
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Joint 
Transportation 

Board
Councillor K M Kelly (DBC)– Chairman

Mrs A D Allen MBE (KCC) – Vice-Chairman

Mrs P Cole (KCC)
Mr P Harman (KCC)
Mr J Kite MBE(KCC)

Mr T Maddison (KCC)
Mr J Ozog (KCC)

Councillor J A Hayes (DBC)
Councillor E J Lampkin (DBC)

Councillor Mrs J A Ozog (DBC)
Councillor D Page (DBC)

Councillor R J Wells (DBC)

Parish representative – Councillor Richard Lees

A meeting of the above Board will be held on

Tuesday 1 March 2016

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD 
AGENDA

Tuesday 1 March 2016

1. Apologies for Absence. 

2. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any).

3. To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Joint 
Transportation Board held on 1 December 2015 

(Pages 1 - 8)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

5. Matters Arising (Pages 9 - 12)

This report advises Members on the progress of matters arising at 
previous meetings of the Board.

6. References from other Committees (if any) 

7. Chairman's Update 

A verbal update will be provided by the Chairman, on the following 
items: -

 Enforcement of Yellow Box Junction: Princes Interchange

 Pedestrian Safety Fastrack Routes

 Darenth Valley River Walk: Lighting

8. Fastrack 

Kent County Council Officers may wish to update Members on any 
issues that have arisen from the last Board meeting.



9. Southeastern Rail 

A representative from Southeastern Rail will be present to answer 
Member questions on Rail issues affecting Dartford.  Representation 
from Network Rail has also been invited to the meeting.

10. Home Gardens Cyclepath - Update (Pages 13 - 
18)

11. Bob Dunn Way - Proposed Cycle Route Scheme (Pages 19 - 
34)

12. Traffic Congestion In Dartford and the surrounding areas 

In view of the size and complexity of this issue the Chairman has 
decided to hold a special Board meeting on the evening of 12 April 
2016 to consider:

 The events of the afternoon / evening of 9 February 2016, 
 Traffic congestion in the Dartford area, generally, and 
 Measures being introduced to reduce the levels and frequency 

of such congestion

13. Members Enquiry Items 

Members have the opportunity to raise  the following: -
 

         Questions in relation to capital and revenue funded works 
programmes

         Suggestions for future traffic regulation orders or street 
management proposals

         Questions on policies, plans and strategies related to 
highways, road traffic and public transport.

         Suggestion of a future agenda item (subject to the Chairman’s 
approval)

 

ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

14. Road Works in the Borough of Dartford (Pages 35 - 
52)

Members will be advised of the roadworks which were currently being 
undertaken or expected within the Borough.



15. KCC - Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee (Pages 53 - 
86)

For Members information the following has been attached for 
Members information: -

 Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee Minutes - 4 
December 2015 and 13 January 2016

NB: If a Member wishes to discuss any of these items at the meeting, 
please advise the Member Services Section (01322) 343251 prior to 
the meeting.





DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD

MINUTES of the meeting of the Joint Transportation Board held on Tuesday 1 December 
2015 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Mrs  A Allen (Vice-Chairman, in the Chair)
Mrs  P Cole
Mr T A Maddison
Mr  J Ozog

Councillor  E J Lampkin
Councillor  Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor  D Page
Councillor  R J Wells

ALSO PRESENT: Lewis Boudeville  -  Dartford Borough Council; Daniel Bruce, Robert 
Clark, Shane Hymers, Jamie Watson, and Carol Valentine – all Kent County Council

27. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 

Apologies for absence were received from the Chairman, Councillor Keith Kelly, 
Councillors Hayes, Kite, and Lees and Mr Peter Harman

In the absence of Councillor Kelly, Mrs Ann Allen chaired the meeting.

Mrs Allen reported that the Kent County Council District Highways Manager for 
Dartford had changed, as Mr John Reynolds had returned to his post as a Highways 
Engineer in the Tunbridge Wells area.  

Members thanked Mr Reynolds for his hard work on behalf of the Board and wished 
him well for the future.

Mrs Allen welcomed Ms Carol Valentine to the meeting and introduced the Board to 
the new District Manager, Mr Jamie Watson, who was attending his first Board 
meeting. 

28. PARISH COUNCIL REPRESENTATION ON THE JOINT TRANSPORTATION 
BOARD 

The Clerk to the Board announced that following an election amongst the local 
Parish and Town councils, Councillor Richard Lees had been selected as their 
representative on the Board.

It was noted that the appointment of a substitute for Councillor Lees was yet to be 
finalised.   



Unfortunately, due to the late finalisation of the election process, Councillor Lees 
was unable to attend this meeting of the Board, as he had a prior commitment, and 
had tendered his apologies.

29. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of Interest received from Board Members.

30. TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE DARTFORD JOINT 
TRANSPORTATION BOARD HELD ON 15 SEPTEMBER 2015. 

RESOLVED

That the Minutes of the Joint Transportation Board held on 15 September 2015 be 
confirmed as a correct record of that meeting.

31. URGENT ITEMS 

Councillor Allen confirmed that there were no urgent items for the Board to consider 
but reminded Members that a written report had been circulated for item 8 on the 
Agenda and that this now related to Safe and Sensible Street Lighting rather than 
the LED lighting roll out.

32. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references to the Board from any other committees.

33. MATTERS ARISING 

The Board received an update on a number of outstanding issues from previous 
meetings and were informed that further information on some issues was provided in 
the Agenda for the meeting.

Mr Maddison asked what progress had been made in the installation of the pump 
proposed to alleviate flooding of Bob Dunn Way, as he was concerned at the 
possibility of a recurrence of flooding on that Road.

Ms Valentine reported that negotiations were still underway with Thames Water 
Utilities, and that the pump would be installed as soon as possible.

Councillor Lampkin reported that Wilmington Grammar School had agreed to provide 
a number of additional parking spaces at the school to help to alleviate the problems.

In response to an earlier request by Councillor Lampkin, Ms Valentine reported that 
investigations into flooding issues at Wilmington Court Road had revealed that one 
of the major soakaways in the area had ceased to function and may require 
replacement, the remaining soakaways had been tested and jetted and seemed to 
be functioning adequately, although minor works may be necessary.  Any remaining 
surface water issues relate to flat spots on the road surface where rain water was 
accumulating.



It was reported that as a result of the absence of the Chairman, updates on points 9, 
10 and 11 in the report could not be given although it was known that the Chairman 
had pursued the matters with the relevant parties.

With regard to point 9 – enforcement of yellow box junctions on the Princes Road 
interchange - the Clerk reported that he was aware that a response had been 
received from the Kent Police Service, but that the Police were unwilling to devote 
manpower to the enforcement of this matter.

The Board expressed deep concern at this response and having discussed the issue 

RESOLVED

a) That a full copy of the Chairman’s letter to the Kent Police Service, and the 
response received be circulated to Board Members for their information

b) The matter be referred to the Cabinet highlighting the concerns of the Board

c) The Chairman should again contact Mr Futers of the Kent Police Service, 
highlighting our disappointment at the response he had given and stressing

 the importance of enforcement at this junction

 That the predicted cuts to Police Service budgets had not materialised

 The introduction of legislation to enable CCTV enforcement was not imminent

 This is an issue relating to Road Safety and this has been identified as a 
priority in the Community Safety plan for the Borough, a document to which 
the Police Service is a signatory.

Arising from the discussion on this matter and other issues, Members asked that 
these three issues should be retained on our list of outstanding issues. 

34. SAFE AND SENSIBLE STREET LIGHTING 

The Board received a report which provided an update on proposed withdrawal of 
street lighting which had been part of the trial “switch off” of street lighting which had 
commenced in the autumn of 2014.

The report identified six areas within Dartford where lighting had been withdrawn and 
highlighted that there had been no appreciable impact on either crime or traffic safety 
during the trial period.

It was noted that in addition to the provision of information the report was designed 
to stimulate comment on the proposals and to garner observations from local 
Members and others to inform any decision taken by the relevant KCC Cabinet 
member.



The following issues were raised by Board Members relating to specific areas

Both Mr Maddison and Councillor Page raised issues relating to Bob Dunn Way: 

 It was felt that the turn off and removal of lamp columns would be premature 
given that traffic levels on this road were bound to increase due to 
developments in neighbouring boroughs and the use of Bob Dunn Way as an 
access route to the River Crossing.

 That a further consultation exercise would be wise to gain a feeling for 
residents wishes at the turn off.

 Although there was no apparent increase in crime and disorder in the area, 
there was a definite perception amongst local people that levels of such had 
increased.  

 It would be useful to consult the local Police Service / Community Safety 
Officers to find out if there were increases in low level crime / anti - social 
behaviour, their views on the reduced lighting, and the feeling “on the streets”

 There had been adverse comments relating to the proposals from local 
people.

Additionally Mr Ozog enquired if the partial lighting proposals would use the same 
lighting regime that was currently applied.

Mr Clark, the report Author, undertook to reflect the concerns expressed, in his final 
report to the KCC Cabinet Member, and to undertake further investigations relating 
to local community safety with the Dartford BC Community safety team.

With regard to the time regime for partial lighting Mr Clark reported that the public 
consultation for this had only just closed but that he did not foresee any great 
changes in the time regimes to be introduced.

The Chairman thanked Mr Clark for his report and looked forward to receiving further 
reports on this and allied issues.

35. CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 

It was noted that Councillor Kelly had not requested verbal updates on any issues, 
and was not able to be present to update Members on issues that he was pursuing 
personally.

36. FASTRACK UPDATE 

The Chairman introduced Mr Shane Hymers and Mr Daniel Bruce both from the KCC 
team responsible for the Fastrack bus system.  Mr Hymers explained that he was 
attending the meeting to answer any Member questions and that his colleague Mr 
Bruce would be giving a verbal report on developments in Fastrack since our June 
meeting.



Mr Bruce commenced by highlighting the current main concern that KCC had with 
Fastrack, the issue of reliability and punctuality.  

He explained that there were a number of long term traffic issues which had 
impacted on punctuality such as issues with the roadway at Ingress Park, road works 
to Mill Pond Road, and gas main replacements, and these had all delayed the 
service. 

In an effort to minimise the impact of such road works in the future efforts are to be 
made to better inform Arriva, the bus operator, of scheduled road works and their 
duration so that contingency plans can be implemented.

Mr Bruce further informed the Board that 

 alterations to traffic signals were proposed to give the Fastrack fleet priority 
access 

 the introduction of additional priority routes for Fastrack was being considered

 new improved vehicles had been introduced on the routes

 improved information screens at stops were being introduced commencing in 
January 2016

 Shelters were being improved generally, with two new shelters being 
introduced at Ebbsfleet.

 Oyster Cards were being given to new house purchasers by the developers in 
the Eastern Quarry development area, as part of the welcome pack when they 
moved in.

With regard to strategic issues, Mr Bruce reported that the Fastrack Management 
Board had met for the first time and that it was adopting a progressive positive 
approach to the future of Fastrack.

The Chairman enquired if the repairs to the bus way at Ingress Park were now 
completed, if development of the busway in that area were proposed and if the 
Management Committee was looking at expansion into the new Ebbsfleet Garden 
City Development.

Mr Bruce reported that the repairs to the bus way were now completed, and that 
future development of the busway in both the Ingress Park area and the Garden City 
were under consideration although only at the planning stage at present.  

He stressed however that these expansions were very much in the hands of the 
developers.



Councillor Lampkin asked if arboricultural issues were on the Management 
Committee agenda, if the Boroughs had representation on the Board and if the 
misuse of the bus ways by Domestic traffic had been considered by the Board.  

Mr Bruce responded that items could be placed on the Agenda and that each area / 
district was represented by Officers, with Dartford being represented by Teresa 
Ryszkowska, the Head of Regeneration.

With regard to traffic misuse issues, an experiment in Tunbridge Wells on bus lane 
enforcement by CCTV had just concluded and discussions at Officer level on this 
matter for Fastrack were currently ongoing.

The Chairman thanked Messrs Hymer and Bruce for their presentation and for 
answering Members’ questions.

37. MEMBERS ENQUIRY ITEMS 

Board Members raised the following matters:

Masonic Hall Car Park, West Hill, Dartford.
Mr Ozog asked if some attention could be given to the large planter adjacent to the 
exit from this busy car park.  He reported that it was currently quite overgrown and 
was obstructing the view for drivers of vehicles leaving the carpark.  Alternatively Mr 
Ozog asked if some permission was required for the owners of the car park to cut 
back the foliage from the planter

Ms Valentine undertook to look into this.

Ashen Drive Dartford
Mr Ozog reminded the Board that he had raised the issue of subsidence in this Road 
at the last meeting and enquired what progress had been made in repairing the 
damage.

Ms Valentine reported that the majority of the work to the roadway was now 
complete and that a section of the footway is to be re-laid.

Maiden Lane, Dartford
Mr Ozog finally raised the matter of traffic congestion and parking issues at Maiden 
Lane, where the road entered Dartford from Bexley.

Mr Boudeville explained that the problems were caused by the introduction of 
parking controls in Bexley which had displaced parking into Dartford.  He 
commented that the area needed to be considered, by the KCC transport team, for 
the introduction of parking controls.
 
Highways Safety Audit
Mr Maddison enquired about the process for requesting a highway safety audit as a 
resident had raised an issue regarding a certain section of highway.



Ms Valentine advised that the matter should be raised initially with a local highway 
officer who would assess the area based upon reported accident figures, and that 
action could be taken if the accident data indicated a problem.

38. DARTFORD HIGHWAYS WORKS PROGRAMME 2015 /2016 

The Board received and noted a report that set out details of Highways works in 
progress or approved for commencement in 2015/2016, in the Dartford area.

Arising from the report Mr Ozog enquired how it was that Mr Maddison had been 
able to procure the installation of “dog bone” road markings for a local resident when 
he had been informed on numerous occasions that such marking was no longer 
available through Dartford Borough Council or Kent CC Highways.

Mr Boudeville confirmed that such road markings were no longer available through 
either Dartford BC or KCC.

Mr Maddison confirmed however that he had indeed obtained the markings through 
KCC highways, albeit financed by his Member Fund, and that this had been 
undertaken in error by a KCC Officer who was unaware of the change in KCC Policy.

39. KCC - ENVIRONMENT AND TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE 

The Board noted the Minutes of the meeting of the Kent County Council Environment 
and Transport Cabinet Committee held on 21 July 2015.

The meeting closed at 8.30 pm

CHAIRMAN





JOINT TRANSPORTATION BOARD
1 March 2016

MATTERS ARISING

1. Summary

1.1 This report advises Members on the progress of matters arising at previous 
meetings of the Board.

2.  RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the comments in the “Update/Outcome” column of the 
Appendix A to this report

3 Background and Discussion

3.1 Previously, the Joint Transportation Board requested that a report on 
matters arising be placed on future agendas of this Board.

3.2 The matters arising are as detailed in the Appendix A to this report.

3.3 A verbal update, where applicable, will be given at the meeting of this 
Board.

4    Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

5. Appendices

Appendix A:  Matters Arising

BACKGROUND PAPERS:

None 

Contact Officers : As detailed in the Appendix to this report                      

Contact Number:
KCC Highways & Transportation      08458 247 800

Dartford Borough Council  01322 343251





Dartford Joint Transportation Board  

1 March 2016

Action Current Situation Update / Outcome
1 Fast Track – Future Developments A twice yearly update to be made to the 

Board.
.An update should be presented to the June 
meeting.

2. Sensible Street Lighting KCC have announced a change in direction 
over this and an update is expected from 
them in due course…

3.14. Bob Dunn Way.
a) Access Issues

b) Flood alleviation

It is understood that contractor difficulties 
are delaying works, KCC Officers agreed  to 
expedite matters

Works completed

4.15. Home Gardens Dartford, Proposed 
Shared Use Footway / Cyclepath 

Consideration of a report on this was 
deferred to allow for further issues to be 
presented to Members.

A report on this is attached for Member 
consideration

5.16. Removal of Redundant Lamp 
columns and Stumps

Members have agreed to monitor the 
progress made in removal.

6.17. Parking Issues Ingress Park A site visit has been arranged to take place 
on 12 June 2015.

7.18. Misuse of Busways by Motorists The possible deployment of a mobile CCTV 
camera to aid in deterring and prosecuting 
motorists who misuse the busways was to 
be investigated by KCC and that a report be 
presented to our next meeting.   

A CCTV scheme being formulated and a 
report to be presented to a future meeting.

8.19. Parking Control Issues: Common 
Lane Wilmington

A report on additional parking controls to be 
presented to a future Meeting.

Further correspondence has been received 
from local residents on this issue and KCC 
and DBC Officers have been made aware of 
the problems and have been asked to 
respond accordingly.

DBC will update the Board on the use of 
enforcement at this location.



Dartford Joint Transportation Board  

1 March 2016

Action Current Situation Update / Outcome
920. Enforcement of Yellow Box 

Junction: Princes Interchange
The Chairman had undertaken to contact 
Kent Police on this matter.

Arising from the last meeting, this issue has 
been referred to the Cabinet and will be 
considered at the meeting on 3 March 2016.

The Chairman will further update Members on 
this matter.

1021. Pedestrian Safety Fastrack Routes The Chairman had undertaken to contact 
the Fastrack operators on this matter.

11.22. Darenth Valley River Walk: 
Lighting

The Chairman had undertaken to contact 
the owner of the lighting on this matter.

1223. Maiden Lane Dartford
24. Traffic / Parking Issues

This issue has been raised on a number of 
occasions by Members at Board meetings 



1

To: Dartford Joint Transportation Board 

By: Tim Read - Head of Transportation

Date: 1 March 2016

Subject: Home Gardens cycleway/footway scheme

Classification: For information 

Summary: This report outlines the proposed Home Gardens 
cycleway/footway improvement scheme that is intended to be implemented as 
part of the 2016/17 Local Growth Fund improvements programme.  

1. Background 

1.1     Finance for this scheme is to be provided via the Single Local 
Growth Fund awarded to Kent County Council from central 
government. This funding is non-transferable, so if not used for this 
scheme, it cannot be utilised to make alternative Highway repairs or 
improvements in the area.

1.2  This scheme, originally discussed in 2013, is to provide a new 
connection for cyclists along the eastern side of A226 Home 
Gardens between Station Approach, the riverside cycle path and 
town centre.

1.3 The scheme will provide a direct link for cycles to the cycle path 
alongside the River Darenth, which then links to other existing off 
road cycle facilities on Mill Pond Road and on via Cycle Route 125. 
This in turn provides direct cycle access to the railway station into 
the large area of housing to the north east of Dartford town centre.

1.4     Most recently the scheme was consulted on in August 2015 and was 
intended at this time to include:

1.4.1 Widening of the existing footway to create a footway/cycleway 
alongside Home Gardens from the County Court to the 
junction of Station Approach. 

1.4.2 Widening and relocation of the existing traffic island at the 
Station Approach roundabout entry at Home Gardens to 
reduce the distance pedestrians and cyclists have to cross. 



2

1.4.3 An on road cycle lane travelling uphill on Station Approach, 
removal of sub-standard width footway on the western side of 
Station Approach and localised widening of footway on the 
eastern side of Station Approach.

1.5     Feedback on the consultation centred on reservations regarding the 
loss of Highway trees necessary to enable widening of the existing 
footway in front of Crown House and the narrowing of the exit from 
Station Approach onto the Home Gardens.

1.6 Councillor Matthew Davis requested that any Highway trees that 
were removed as part of the scheme be replaced nearby.

1.7 A representative of the taxi drivers strongly objected to the narrowing 
of the Station Approach entry to the Home Gardens roundabout.  
They were concerned that if the scheme was constructed as 
proposed it would prevent taxi’s ability to exit Station Approach 
directly into the bus lane on Home Gardens to travel south, thus 
avoiding the congestion commonly found here at peak times.

1.8 The local representative for the CTC (national cycling charity) 
responded strongly in favour of the scheme.

2. Ongoing Discussion

2.1 Considering the above valid concerns made by the taxi driver lobby, 
a CCTV survey of the junction was carried out September 2015 to 
enable an informed decision on this element of the scheme.  
Although on the day of the survey the numbers of taxi’s making this 
manoeuvre was low (less than 10 in gridlocked traffic conditions), it 
is acknowledged that this survey is only a snapshot, that this number 
would be variable and this element of the proposals would represent 
a significant delay to those users. 

2.2 A meeting between KCC Officers and Jeremey Kite as Leader of 
Dartford Borough Council was held on 28th October 2015 to discuss 
the scheme and various objections.

2.3 It was agreed that KCC officers would look to revise the scheme 
proposal to ensure traffic exiting Station Approach was not impeded 
and to minimise the loss of Highway trees.

3. Revised proposals

3.1 A revised scheme has been prepared which only removes localised 
pinch points from the existing brick planter outside Crown House. 
This allows the footway to be widened to ensure we meet a 
minimum width of 3.5m, yet should result in the loss of only one 
Highway tree (please see Appendix 1 drawing No. 
DA/LGF/0134/1600 JTB for details ).



3

3.2 The removal of the tree as mentioned above will improve visibility for 
drivers exiting the County Court and Crown House car park.

3.3 The entrance to the Crown House car park will be revised to narrow 
it slightly to reduce traffic speed and remove the existing sub-
standard and uneven pedestrian refuge. 

3.4 The shared cycleway/footway will be resurfaced to provide a 
macadam surface. Existing slabs which are undamaged will be 
retained at the Highway Depot to enable future repairs elsewhere.

3.5 Previously tabled alterations to Station Approach will not be 
implemented and the scheme will from this point be signed on 
highway with general traffic.  Localised improvements will be 
necessary to the dropped kerbs, signing and lining however this will 
not result in narrowed traffic lanes on Station Approach.

3.6 Details of the above revisions were sent to both the taxi driver 
representative and the local CTC representative for comment.  No 
response was received from the taxi representative; however the 
CTC representative replied explaining that they understood the 
difficulties in taking the scheme forward, accepted that the new 
proposal represented an improvement over the current situation and 
gave his endorsement to the scheme.

4. Conclusion

4.1 The revised scheme as detailed above and shown in Appendix 1 
represents the most pragmatic compromise currently available 
between improving connections for cyclists yet not compromising 
local traffic flow. 

4.2 Subject to the views of this board, Kent County Council intend to 
move forward with the construction of this scheme in the 2016/17 
financial year.

______________________________________________________________

Background documents: The background documents pertaining to this 
report are held on KCC Highways and Transportation file

Appendices

Drawing No. DA/LGF/0134/1600 JTB

Contact officer:
Tony Jenson
Tel: 03000 413684





NEW 3.5M WIDE DBM FOOTWAY

TO CREATE A  SHARED USE SURFACE

EXISTING TRAFFIC ISLAND

FOR REMOVAL

NEW KERB ALIGNMENT

NEW KERB ALIGNMENT

NEW 2.5M WIDE DBM FOOTWAY

TO CREATE A  SHARED USE SURFACE

EXISTING TREES TO BE REMOVED

TO FACILITATE NEW

RETAINING WALL ALIGNMENT

NEW RETAINING WALL ALIGNMENT

EXISTING TREES TO REMAIN

(SUBJECT TO ROOT SPREAD FOLLOWING

DEMOLITION OF RETAINING WALL)

0 10/02/2016

first issue

DH

© Crown Copyright and database right 2015.

Ordnance Survey 100019238.

This drawing is not to be used in whole or part other than for the intended purpose and

project as defined on this drawing. Refer to the contract for full terms and conditions.

Drawing number

Drawing status

Scale

Drawing title

Project

Rev

Do not scale

Revision DateRev Purpose of revision Drawn Check'd App'd

A3

Kent County Council

Ashford Highway Depot

Henwood Industrial Estate

Ashford TN24 8AD

Tel: 03000 418181

S:\KHS - Ashford\MHF & Schemes\Traffic Schemes\0 LGF\KCCJST145 Home Gdns Dartford\DRAWINGS\DA-LGF-0134-1600-JTB 010316.dwg

HOME GARDENS

DARTFORD

NEW SHARED USE

CYCLE ROUTE

& FOOTWAY WIDENING

FOR INFORMATION

Not to Scale

DA/LGF/0134/1600 0

KEY:

AREA OF EXISTING CONCRETE PAVING SLABS TO BE RECONSTRUCTED IN DBM

TO FORM A NEW SHARED USE FOOTWAY/CYCLE ROUTE

NEW KERB ALIGNMENT





BOB DUNN WAY – Proposed cycle route scheme

To: Dartford Joint Transportation Board, 1st March 2016

Main Portfolio Area: KCC – Growth Environment and Transport

By: Director of Highways, Transportation and Waste

Classification: Unrestricted

Ward: Joyce Green and Town    Division: Dartford North East / Dartford West

Summary: The report outlines the proposed cycle route scheme and associated 
improvements along Bob Dunn Way. 

For Decision

1.0 Introduction and Background

1.1 Kent County Council (KCC) is intending to install a new cycle route along Bob Dunn Way 
to provide improved facilities in the area for commuters and leisure cyclists. The proposed 
route improvements will run from the Thames Road roundabout to the Marsh Street 
roundabout and will include additional route links near Joyce Green Lane.

1.2 The scheme is to be fully funded from the successful Kent Thameside – Integrated Door 
to Door Journeys Local Growth Fund (LGF) bid.  The Department for Transport (DfT) 
added £100m to the LGF pot in order to fund Local Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF) 
Style schemes.  KCC subsequently submitted four LSTF capital bids 1) East Kent – A 
network for Growth, 2) Kent Thameside – Integrated door-to-door journeys and 3) West 
Kent – Tackling Congestion.  The fourth was for Tonbridge Town Centre Regeneration, 
which included a highway improvements scheme in the Lower High Street as well as 
additional LSTF style measures.  The objective of all of the capital bids is to boost 
economic growth by decreasing carbon emissions and reducing congestion. 

1.3 The Kent Thameside, West Kent and Tonbridge Town Centre Regeneration bids were all 
successful.  The East Kent capital bid was unsuccessful.  The Bob Dunn Way cycle route 
is one scheme to be delivered in 2016/17 from Kent Thameside – Integrated Door to Door 
Journeys.

1.4 The principal aim of the Bob Dunn Way cycle route is to connect existing cycle links to 
encourage sustainable forms of travel in the area; reducing traffic congestion and 
improving the health of local residents and commuters. There is significant development 
planned for the surrounding areas, and it is envisaged that providing an off road cycle 
facility will encourage new residents to commute or travel for leisure by cycling.

2.1 Discussion

2.1 The scheme proposal has been discussed in detail with Dartford Borough Council officers 
and a feasibility study was carried out last financial year. The study, completed in January 
2015, identified 4 possible options for the scheme, which involved varying routes, types of 
cycle track (on road / off road) and a number of other scheme requirements such as 
crossing improvements and ramps. 



2.2 The four options were considered, and a new off road cycle track joining into newly 
constructed off carriageway cycle routes was the preferred option (as shown in Annex 1). 

2.3 To ensure there is adequate space to install the new cycle route, any existing signs will be 
raised to allow sufficient clearance height for cyclists or relocated to the back of the new 
cycle path. In addition some localised widening will take place into the existing verge to 
ensure as much width as possible is gained.

2.4 Kent Police have been consulted on the proposals and raise no objections in principle to 
the scheme. In their view any improvements that provide additional off road facilities for 
cyclists will improve safety in the area. They stated that any reduction in speed limit would 
be difficult to enforce due to the nature and size (dual carriageway) of the road on Bob 
Dunn Way so would need to be on the whole self-enforcing. Due to the additional costs 
required to reduce speeds through traffic calming, and the views of Kent Police, no speed 
reductions are proposed within this scheme.

2.5 The land use and environmental habitats that may reside nearby have meant that 
ecological surveys need to be carried out along the entire route. During the initial surveys 
evidence of newts was found so it will be necessary to carry out an extensive 500metre 
perimeter survey along the entire length of the route. Construction will therefore be 
progressed in the 2016/17 financial year.

2.6 Currently there are 1m high parapets (barriers) on the bridges over the River Darent and 
the West Kent main sewer line. Sustrans guidance states that parapets should be a 
minimum of 1.2m high along cycle routes, so the heights of the parapets will be increased 
accordingly.

2.7 The scheme has been through a stage 1 safety audit and the recommendations of the 
audit are being incorporated in to the scheme design.  Construction of the scheme will 
require temporary lane closures along the A206 to ensure safe working areas for the 
contractors on site, and lane closures will also be needed to carry out the additional 
environmental surveys.

3.0 Financial

3.1 The scheme design and delivery is being fully funded by the Kent Thameside LGF bid.  
Pending the results of the ecological surveys and a consultation process, it is proposed 
that the scheme proceed as outlined on the plan shown in Annex 1. 

4.0 For Information

4.1 Funding has been secured, and the scheme is proposed to proceed to construction 
pending the results of the ecological surveys and a consultation process. Any objections 
received as part of the consultation process will be bought back to the Board.

             
Future Meeting if applicable: N/A Date: 03/02/2016

Contact Officer: Ryan Shiel, Transport Planner   03000 418181

Reporting to: Kerry Prescott, Transport Innovations Manager

Annex List

Annex 1 Scheme Proposal / Plan





BOB DUNN WAY – CYCLE ROUTE
Transport innovations Scheme

Annex 1 –Scheme Proposal / Plans











NOTES

1. Proposed signs and roadmarkings are indicative only and will be

subject to further changes in the next design stages.

KEY

Existing Lamp Column

Existing Sign

Existing Sign - Refer to Signing schedule

Service covers to be raised to suit new levels

Proposed cycleway

Embankment widened with topsoil and

seeded

Vegetation Clearance

LC

RS

S1

K

L

B

G

G

G

G

G

I

C

I

C

C

A

T

V

C

A

T

V

C

A

T

V

L

P

L

P

L

P

L

P

R

S

R

S

R

S

R

S

R

S

R

S

R

S

R

S

R

S

R

S

O

v

e

r

g

r

o

w

n

 

m

a

c

a

d

a

m

I

C

M

a

c

a

d

a

m

C

o

n

c

r

e

t

e

M

a

c

a

d

a

m

T

/

P

a

v

D
ro

p

B

l

o

c

k

C

o

n

c

r

e

t

e

D
ro

p
 k

e
rb

D
ro

p
 k

e
rb

M

a

c

a

d

a

m

M

a

c

a

d

a

m

B

l

o

c

k

C

o

n

c

r

e

t

e

T

/

P

a

v

T

h

a

m

e

s

 

R

o

a

d

C
U

T
 
L
I
N

E
 
1

C
U

T
 
L
I
N

E
 
1

S4 - Existing National Speed Limit

sign erected on new post adjacent

to VRS and 2.4m high

Dropped kerbs to be taken up and

new dropped kerbs to be laid flush

Uncntrolled Crossing point with

extended existing island

LC

LC

RS

RS

RS

RS

Vegetation clearance 2m from back

of Vehicle Restraint System to

provide adequate sight lines.

Widening of the existing

embankment to provide the

cycleway width

0.5m high barrier placed at top of

the embankment adjacent to the

cycleway wherever hazards are

present

Existing Open Box Beam Vehicle

Restraint System posts to be fitted

with yellow plastic post caps to suit

"Z" style posts with rear of barrier

protection to be installed

10m of existing Tensioned

Corrugated Beam Vehicle Restraint

System to be moved back to allow

minimum 2m width at pinch point

S3 - Existing Illuminated

National Speed Limit sign to be

erected on new post 2.4m high

Existing Lamp column to be moved

to back of cycleway

S2 - "Uneven Road Ahead"

sign to be moved behind VRS

on new post 2.4m high

S1 - Illuminated 30mph speed

limit sign moved to back of

cycleway on new post 2.4m high

Dropped kerbs to be taken up and

new dropped kerbs to be laid flush

3
.
1
m

3

m

3
.
1
m

3

m

3
.
0
m

2
m

3

.
0

m

3
.
0
m

3

.
0

m

3

m

3

m

Existing dropped kerbs and

crossing to be removed and

replaced with widened footway with

dropped kerbs and tactile paving

3m

Existing Kerbs to be removed and

new dropped kerbs with tactile

paving to be laid

B

B

C
U

T
 
L
I
N

E
 
1

C
U

T
 
L
I
N

E
 
1

File ref - p:\d - projects\co04300331 - bob dunn way dartford cycle route design stage\102.drawings\01. working\000 non contract\4300331-000-03 rev 1.dwg

0

Project Name

RevDrawing No

Scale :

Original Drawing Size :

Drawing Title

Dimensions :A1

As constructed

For construction

Date

Date:

Client

Revision details

Design:

Appd:

Rev

Drawn:

Chkd: For tender

For comment

Chkd Appd

100

Preliminary

c

Copyright     Amey

www.amey.co.uk

JPB

JPB

MF

IH

18-11-2015

Other

Bob Dunn Way Dartford

Cycleway

Proposed Cycleway

Outline Design - Sheet 1 of 4

1:500

m

4300331/000/03 1

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the

permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of

Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may

lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. 100019238. 2015

S

h

e

e

t

 

1

S

h

e

e

t

 

1

1 Design amended to include Stage 1              IH      MM   04/02/16

Safety Audit recommendations





NOTES

1. Proposed signs and roadmarkings are indicative only and will be

subject to further changes in the next design stages.

KEY

Existing Lamp Column

Existing Sign

Existing Sign - Refer to Signing schedule

Service covers to be raised to suit new levels

Proposed cycleway

Embankment widened with topsoil and

seeded

Vegetation Clearance

Widening of footway on bridge deck to

include kerb drainage and expansion joints

LC

RS

S1

File ref - p:\d - projects\co04300331 - bob dunn way dartford cycle route design stage\102.drawings\01. working\000 non contract\4300331-000-04 rev 1.dwg

0

Project Name

RevDrawing No

Scale :

Original Drawing Size :

Drawing Title

Dimensions :A1

As constructed

For construction

Date

Date:

Client

Revision details

Design:

Appd:

Rev

Drawn:

Chkd: For tender

For comment

Chkd Appd

100

Preliminary

c

Copyright     Amey

www.amey.co.uk

JPB

JPB

MF

IH

18-11-2105

Other

Bob Dunn Way Dartford

Cycleway

Proposed  Cycleway

Outline Design - Sheet 2 of 4

1:500

m

4300331/000/04 1

SCALE  1 : 500

100 20 4030 50 m

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the

permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of

Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may

lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. 100019238. 2015

S
h
e
e
t 
2

S
h
e
e
t 
2

1 Design amended to include Stage 1

Safety Audit recommendations

IH       MM    04/02/16





NOTES

1. Proposed signs and roadmarkings are indicative only and will be

subject to further changes in the next design stages.

KEY

Existing Lamp Column

Existing Sign

Existing Sign - Refer to Signing schedule

Service covers to be raised to suit new levels

Proposed cycleway

Embankment widened with topsoil and

seeded

Vegetation Clearance

LC

RS

S1

File ref - p:\d - projects\co04300331 - bob dunn way dartford cycle route design stage\102.drawings\01. working\000 non contract\4300331-000-05 rev 1.dwg

0

Project Name

RevDrawing No

Scale :

Original Drawing Size :

Drawing Title

Dimensions :A1

As constructed

For construction

Date

Date:

Client

Revision details

Design:

Appd:

Rev

Drawn:

Chkd: For tender

For comment

Chkd Appd

100

Preliminary

c

Copyright     Amey

www.amey.co.uk

JPB

JPB

MF

IH

18-11-2015

Other

Bob Dunn Way Dartford

Cycleway

Proposed Cycleway

Outline Design - Sheet 3 of 4

1:500

m

4300331/000/05 1

SCALE  1 : 500

100 20 4030 50 m

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the

permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of

Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may

lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. 100019238. 2015

S
h
e
e
t 
3

Sheet 3

1 Design amended to include Stage 1

Safety Audit recommendations

IH      MM    04/02/16





Existing carriageway

Levels as existing

Topsoil strip

TYPICAL SECTION WITH SEGREGATION

SCALE 1:50

(A-A)

Cycleway construction depth

20mm AC6 Surface Course

60mm AC20 Binder Course

150mm Type 1 Sub base with Geotextile

membrane for root protection

Existing cycleway edge varies between

embankment, cutting and mature

hedgerow

Concrete edging

1:40 Fall

Levels as existing

Topsoil strip

TYPICAL SECTION WITH EXISTING VEHICLE RESTRAINTS SYSTEM

SCALE 1:50

(B-B)

Existing cycleway edge varies between

embankment, cutting and mature

hedgerow

Concrete edging

Single sided Tensioned Corrugated Beam or Open Box

Beam Vehicle Restraint Systems with plastic caps for

"Z" style posts and rear of barrier protection to be

identified

1:40 Fall Existing carriageway

Levels as existing

TYPICAL SECTION WITHOUT SEGREGATION

SCALE 1:50

(C-C)

Existing cycleway edge varies between

embankment, cutting and mature

hedgerow

Concrete kerb

1:40 Fall

0.5m

0.5m

Existing carriageway

0.5m

0.2m

Varies

0.5m high barrier to be placed wherever

hazards are present

Embankment earthworks to increase width

Slope to be 1 in 3

Concrete edging

Cycleway construction depth

20mm AC6 Surface Course

60mm AC20 Binder Course

150mm Type 1 Sub base with Geotextile

membrane for root protection

Cycleway construction depth

20mm AC6 Surface Course

60mm AC20 Binder Course

150mm Type 1 Sub base with Geotextile

membrane for root protection

Cycleway width to be 2m

 minimum with 3m maximum

unless shown otherwise

Cycleway width to be 2m

 minimum with 3m maximum

unless shown otherwise

Cycleway width to be 2m

 minimum with 3m maximum

unless shown otherwise

NOTES

1. Proposed signs and roadmarkings are indicative only and will be

subject to further changes in the next design stages.

KEY

Existing Lamp Column

Existing Sign

Existing Sign - Refer to Signing schedule

Service covers to be raised to suit new levels

Proposed cycleway

Embankment widened with topsoil and

seeded

Vegetation Clearance

LC

RS

S1

KLB

CATV

CATV

D

T/Pav

T/Pav

T/Pav T/Pav

T/Pav

27.15

20.65

21.00

27.06

20.68

20.90

S014

Pylon

S015

S016

L

o

o

s

e

 
s

t
o

n

e

 
/
 
m

a

c

a

d

a

m

 
f
o

o

t
p

a

t
h

G

r
a
s
s

G

r

a

s

s

M

a

c

a

d

a

m

T/Pav

T/Pav

M

a

c

.

T/Pav

Grass

Grass

M

a

c

a

d

a

m

G

r

a

s

s

Grass

T

i
m

b

e

r

 

p

o

s

t

 

a

n

d

 

r

a

i
l
 

f

e

n

c

e

M

a

r

s

h

 

S

t

r

e

e

t

Grass

B

o

x

 

c

r

a

s

h

 

b

a

r

r

i

e

r

s

M

a

c

a

d

a

m

G

r

a

s

s

Grass

M

a

c

.

T

i

m

b

e

r

 

p

o

s

t

 

a

n

d

 

r

a

i

l

 

f

e

n

c

e

A

2

0

6

 

B

o

b

 

D

u

n

n

 

W

a

y

C
U

T
 
L
I
N

E
 
6

C
U

T
 
L
I
N

E
 
6

3
m

3
m

3

m

3

m

3
m

3

.

1

m

S18 - Existing 100yd sign to be

moved to back of cycleway on

new post 2.4m high

S16 - Existing 200yd sign to be

mounted on new post at the

back of cycleway 2.4m high

S19 - Existing Emergency

Vehicles Only sign to be moved

to back of cycleway on new post

2.4m high

RS

RS

RS

RS

LC

S17 - Existing Interactive "Slow

Down" sign to be repaired or

replaced by KCC during

construction and moved to rear

of cycleway

Existing crossing consisting of

dropped kerbs and tactile paving

to be removed

Lamp Column to be moved

Existing crossing to be widened

with new dropped kerbs and

tactile paving

New crossing to be installed

north of existing crossing with

new dropped kerbs and tactile

paving

3
m

C

C

A

A

BT

C
U

T
 
L
I
N

E
 
6

C
U

T
 
L
I
N

E
 
6

File ref - p:\d - projects\co04300331 - bob dunn way dartford cycle route design stage\102.drawings\01. working\000 non contract\4300331-000-06 rev 1.dwg

0

Project Name

RevDrawing No

Scale :

Original Drawing Size :

Drawing Title

Dimensions :A1

As constructed

For construction

Date

Date:

Client

Revision details

Design:

Appd:

Rev

Drawn:

Chkd: For tender

For comment

Chkd Appd

100

Preliminary

c

Copyright     Amey

www.amey.co.uk

JPB

JPB

MF

IH

18-11-2015

Other

Bob Dunn Way Dartford

Cycleway

Proposed Cycleway

Outline Design - Sheet 4 of 4

1:500

m

4300331/000/06 1

SCALE  1 : 500

100 20 4030 50 m

This map is based upon Ordnance Survey material with the

permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of

Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown Copyright.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may

lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. 100019238. 2015

Sheet 4

SCALE  1 : 50

10 2 43 5 m

1 Design amended to include Stage 1

Safety Audit recommendations

IH     MM     04/02/16





To:             Dartford Joint Transportation Board 

By:             KCC Highways, Transportation and Waste

Date: 1st March 2016

Subject:  Highway Works Programme 2015/16 

Classification: Information Only 

Summary: This report updates Members on the identified schemes approved for 
construction in 2015/16 

1. Introduction 

This report provides an update and summarises schemes that have been programmed 
for delivery in 2015/16 

Footway and Carriageway Improvement Schemes – see Appendix A

Drainage Repairs & Improvements – see Appendix B

Street Lighting – see Appendix C

Transportation and Safety Schemes – see Appendix D

 Casualty Reduction Measures
 Local Growth Fund 
 Externally Funded Schemes

Developer Funded Works – see Appendix E

Bridge Works – see Appendix F

Traffic Systems – see Appendix G

Combined Member Fund – see Appendix H

Conclusion 

1. This report is for Members information.



Contact Officers:

The following contact officers can be contacted on 03000 418181
 
Carol Valentine West Kent Highway Manager
John Reynolds Dartford District Manager
Alan Casson                   Resurfacing Manager
Katie Moreton Drainage Manager & Interim Structures Manager
Sue Kinsella Street Lighting Manager
Toby Butler Intelligent Transport Systems Manager
Melvyn Twycross                      PROW
Jamie Hare Developer Funded Work
Jamie Watson Transportation and Safety Schemes
Kirstie Williams Combined Member Fund



Appendix A – Footway and Carriageway Improvement Schemes

The delivery of these schemes is weather dependent; should it prove not possible to carry out these 
works on the planned dates, new dates will be arranged and the residents will be informed by a 
letter drop to their homes.

Machine Resurfacing – Contact Officer Mr Byron Lovell

Road Name Parish Extent of Works Current Status

None

Footway Improvement - Contact Officer Mr Neil Tree

Road Name Parish Extent and Description of 
Works

Current Status

Birchwood Road Wilmington

Phase 1 between No. 180 
and 190a.

Phase 2 – Between No. 
202 and just beyond No. 

238 (Footway 
Reconstruction)

Phase 1 – Complete

Phase 2 – On site

Surface Treatments – Contact Officer Mr Clive Lambourne

None

Appendix B – Drainage

Drainage Works – Contact Officer Kathryn Moreton

Road Name Parish Description of Works Current Status

No Drainage works planned over £5000



Appendix C – Street Lighting

  
Structural testing of KCC owned street lights has identified the following as requiring replacement 
this financial year. A status of complete identifies that the column replacement has been carried out. 
Programme dates are identified for those still requiring replacement.   Phase 1 replacements.

Street Lighting Column Replacement – Contact Officer Sue Kinsella

Road Name Parish Description of Works Status

Crossways Boulevard Stone Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED Lanterns

Works 
programme

d for 
completion 

by end 
March 2016

Instone Road Dartford
Replacement of 2 no street lights 

complete with LED Lanterns

Works 
programme

d for 
completion 

by end 
March 2016

Hawley Road Sutton Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED Lanterns

Works 
programme

d for 
completion 

by end 
March 2016

Home Gardens Dartford Replacement of 6 no street lights 
complete with LED Lanterns

Works 
programme

d for 
completion 

by end 
March 2016

London Road
Stone Replacement of 7 no street lights 

complete with LED Lanterns Completed

Summerhouse Drive Wilmington Replacement of 3 no street lights 
complete with LED Lanterns Completed

Alkenden Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 2 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern. Completed

Chestnut Grove Wilmington Replacement of 1 no street light Works 



complete with LED Lantern. programme
d for 

completion 
by end 

March 2016

East Hill Dartford Replacement of 1 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern.

Works 
programme

d for 
completion 

by end 
March 2016

Gasson Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 3 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern.

Works 
programme

d for 
completion 

by end 
March 2016

Hasted Close Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 2 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern. Completed

Hill Rise Darenth Replacement of 2 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern.

Completed

Johnsons Way Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 3 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern. Completed

London Road Stone Replacement of 1 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern. Completed

Lowfield Street Dartford Replacement of 2 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern.

1 
completed/ 

1 to 
complete 

March 2016

Marsh Street Dartford Replacement of 2 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern. Completed

Squires Way Wilmington Replacement of 9 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern.

8 complete/ 
1UKPN to 
complete

The Crescent Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 2 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern. Completed

Warren Road Wilmington Replacement of 8 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern.

1 UKPN to 
complete

Western Cross Close Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 3 no street light 
complete with LED Lantern. Completed



Additional 2015/16 .

Lewis Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 3 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern . Completed

Broomfield Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 6 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

. 5 
completed/ 

1 to 
complete by 
end March 

2016

Leonard Avenue Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 7 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

St Marys Road Stone Replacement of 5 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Milton Street Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 7 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern . Completed

Manor Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 8 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

. 7 
completed/ 
1 UKPN to 
complete

Keary Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 2 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Sun Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 5 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern . Completed

Vernon Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

. Works 
programme

d for 
completion 

by end 
March 2016

Castle Street Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

Milton Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 3 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

The Grove Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 2 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Craylands Square Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

Wallace Gardens Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed



Wright Close Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Craylands Lane Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 3 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

2 
completed/ 

1 to 
complete by 
March 2016

Bushfield Walk Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 2 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Breakneck Hill Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

The Spires Wilmington Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

 UKPN to 
complete

Carsington Gardens Wilmington Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

 UKPN to 
complete

Port Avenue Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 3 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Knockhall Chase Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 5 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

Cadogan Avenue Stone Replacement of 2 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Lane Avenue Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

Meadow Way Stone Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

Kirby Road Stone Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Station Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 3 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

Elm Road Stone Replacement of 3 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Woodside Drive Wilmington Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

Manor Close Wilmington Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

Common Lane Wilmington Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed



Gerdview Drive Wilmington Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

Meadow Walk Wilmington Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Stock Lane Wilmington Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

UKPN to 
complete

Herbert Road Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 2 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern

1 
completed/ 
1 UKPN to 
complete

Gilbert Close Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 3 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Lordswood Close Darenth Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

Carlton Avenue Stone Replacement of 2 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Birch Place Stone Replacement of 2 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

Bevis Close Stone Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern Completed

Swanscombe Street Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 3 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

Nursery Close Stone Replacement of 1 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed

Madden Close Swanscombe 
& Greenhithe

Replacement of 3 no street lights 
complete with LED lantern  Completed



Appendix D – Local Transport Plan funded (named schemes) and externally funded 
schemes

The Traffic Schemes team is implementing schemes within Dartford borough, in order to meet Kent 
County Council’s (KCC) strategic targets (for example, addressing traffic congestion or improving 
road safety).  Casualty reduction measures have been identified to address a known history of 
personal injury crashes:

Local Transport Plan funded schemes – Contact officer Paul Brand
Road Name Description of works Current status
Casualty reduction measures – 2015/16

Installation of deflection 
arrow at lane merge on exit 
from Little Brook 
Interchange western 
roundabout

To be incorporated into planned maintenance 
works.

A206 Bob Dunn 
Way (junction with 
Little Brook 
Interchange)

Amend advance direction 
sign on eastbound 
carriageway to match 
current carriageway 
markings on approach to 
western roundabout.

Sign being amended as part of other works 
being undertaken by Highways England’s 
contractor.

A226 East Hill 
junction with 
Darenth Road

Revised scheme proposed 
involving road marking 
alterations

Works in progress.

A225 Princes 
Road, junction with 
Darenth Road

None. Redesign of signal-controlled junction is in 
progress due to changes to Fastrack busway.  
No separate scheme to be prepared.

A206 Crossways 
Boulevard

Implement 40 miles per hour 
speed limit for the entire 
length of the road (the 
section between the 
roundabout junctions with 
B255 Station Road and 
Galleon Boulevard currently 
has a 50mph limit).

Design work in progress for implementation in 
Spring 2016.

B255 St Clements 
Way roundabout 
junction with 
Bluewater Parkway

Installation of deflection 
arrow on the carriageway at 
lane merge on exit to 
northern arm.

Installation of lane direction 
markings on northern 
approach arm (lane 1 ‘B255 
Bean’, lane 2 ‘Bluewater’, 
lane 3 bus lane).

To be incorporated into planned maintenance 
works.



Local Transport Plan funded schemes – Contact officer Paul Brand
Road Name Description of works Current status
Station Road 
junction with Dale 
Road, Southfleet

Install central warning line 
on Station Road through the 
junction.

Review and rationalisation of 
warning signs on 
approaches to junction.

Reposition of westbound 
bus stop to a point west of 
junction with associated 
works.

Design work in progress for implementation in 
Spring 2016.

Local Growth Fund schemes
A226 Home 
Gardens North

Shared use footway and 
cycleway

Revised scheme in preparation with 
construction planned for 2016/17.

Externally funded schemes

B2500 Watling 
Street, east of 
junction with Hill 
House Road

New pedestrian refuge. Design work complete.  Construction works to 
be programmed.

Local Growth Fund programme update for the Dartford Borough.

The Department for Transport (DfT) added £100m to the Local Growth Fund (LGF) pot in order to 
fund Local Sustainable Transport Fund Style schemes.  KCC subsequently submitted four Local 
Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF) capital bids 1) East Kent – A network for Growth, 2) Kent 
Thameside – Integrated door-to-door journeys and 3) West Kent – Tackling Congestion.  The 
fourth was for Tonbridge Town Centre Regeneration, which included a highway improvements 
scheme in the Lower High Street as well as additional LSTF style measures.  The objective of all of 
the capital bids is to boost economic growth by decreasing carbon emissions and reducing 
congestion.

The Kent Thameside, West Kent and Tonbridge Town Centre Regeneration bids were all 
successful. The schemes aim to:

 improve access to employment and services
 reduce the need to travel by the private car
 enhance pedestrian, cycle and public transport facilities
 improve sustainable transport connections

The following schemes have been submitted as part of the successful Kent Thameside LSTF this 
financial year.

Local Growth Fund (Transport Innovations)

Scheme Name Description of Works Current Status



Bob Dunn Way 
cycle route 

improvements

New cycle route between Thames Way and 
Joyce Green Lane roundabout.

Ecological surveys continuing 
throughout Winter / Spring. 

Outline designs completed. See 
JTB report for more information.

Cycle parking 
improvements 

throughout 
Dartford 
Borough

Cycle parking at Stations & Town Centres 
(Dartford, Greenhithe & Longfield)

 Dartford - to upgrade the 
existing cycle storage 
provision and provide 
further cycle spaces from 
50 to 194 and to include a 
covered cycle area within 
the current compound at 
the station. Phase 1 is now 
complete and Phase 2 will 
be completed by March 
2016.

 Greenhithe – designs 
agreed for an additional 40 
cycle storage spaces. 
Installation planned for Feb 
2016. 

 Longfield – designs agreed 
for an additional 10 cycle 
storage spaces. 
Installation planned for Feb 
2016.

Dartford 
Pedestrian 
Information 

Displays

Series of pedestrian signage to encourage 
more walking

Locations for new signage have 
been confirmed and 

manufacturing begun.  
Installations due to take place 
between 21st and 25th March.

Ebbsfleet cycle 
infrastructure 
and parking 

improvements

Additional 20 cycle storage spaces and 
infrastructure improvements within car park 

C.  
To be delivered Jan/Feb 2016.

School capital 
grants

Grants supplied to schools who successfully 
bid for funding of up to £5k per school.

Four schools have been offered 
capital grants to support measures 

encouraging sustainable travel.



Appendix E – Developer Funded Works

S278 Schemes

KCC 
Ref Location Description of 

Works
Current 

Progress
Anticipated 

Actions for next 3 
months O

rig
in

al
 

al
lo

ca
tio

n

Fo
re

ca
st

  
O

ut
-tu

rn

Contact            

DA07
5 

Sectio
n 38

Ingress 
Park - 

Fastrack 
link to 

Greenhith
e Station 

Remedial work 
completed.

On 
maintenance.

Proposed adoption 
Feb. 2016 N/A N/A Dave 

Miles

DA08
7

Former 
GSK Site - 
Junction 

A.

New access off 
Mill Pond Road 

roundabout.
In progress

Some works 
completed. To 

recommence mid. 
Feb. 2016

N/A N/A Dave 
Miles

DA 
2102

Southfleet 
Road, 

Swansco
mbe

Minor c/w 
widening and 
provision of 
footpath and 

street lighting to 
accommodate 

new access into 
Eastern Quarry 
development

Substantially 
completed. 

Awaiting Street 
Lighting remedials N/A N/A Dave 

Miles

DA21
18

Main 
Road, 

Longfield

Construction of 
new roundabout 
to serve housing 
development on 

site of former 
Axton Chase 

School

Substantially 
completed

On maintenance. A 
few outstanding 

remedials. 
Adoption expected 

Mar. 2016. 

N/A N/A Dave 
Miles

DA 
2119

London 
Road/Man

or Way 
Junction, 
Swansco

mbe

Construction of 
new roundabout 

to provide 
secondary 
means of 

access into 
Ingress Park

In Progress Works continuing. N/A N/A Dave 
Miles

DA 
2121

Cotton 
Lane, 
Stone

Construction of 
temporary site 

compound 
access into 

housing 
development on 

site of former 
hospital.

Access 
constructed 

but no longer 
in use.

Developer (Ward) 
chased to reinstate 
highway to former 

condition.

N/A N/A Dave 
Miles



DA 
2131

St 
Clements 

Valley 
(adj. to 

Bluewater)

Provision of 
traffic signal 

junction to serve 
residential 

development.

Substantially 
completed. 
Interim First 
Cert. issued

Awaiting remedial 
works programme. N/A N/A Dave 

Miles

DA 
2132

Halcrow 
Avenue 

Ph 1 (The 
Bridge 
site)

Alterations to 
existing highway 

to 
accommodate 
new parcel of 

residential 
development.

Substantially 
complete.

First Cert. 
inspection carried 

out. Awaiting 
programme.

N/A N/A Dave 
Miles

DA 
3016

Cotton 
Lane, 
Stone 

(Former 
Fantaseas 

site)

Construction of 
new bell mouth 
access into site 
compound for 

housing 
development on 

site of former 
waterpark.

Work 
completed.

Access to be 
removed once 
development 
completed.

N/A N/A Dave 
Miles

DA30
22

The 
Bridge,  
(Marsh 
Street 
North)

Primary School 
construction of 

car park

Work 
completed. On Maintenance N/A N/A Dave 

Miles

DA30
26

Hedge 
Place 
Road

Provision of 
footway and 
alterations to 

existing highway 
as part of 
proposed 
housing 

development

Awaiting 
result of 
Judicial 
Review

Preliminary 
submission made N/A N/A Ashley 

Ralph

DA30
28

GSK 
Temple 

Hill 
Junction D

Construction of 
new roundabout 

to serve 
proposed 
housing 

development.

Substantially 
complete

Awaiting 
installation of traffic 

signals.
N/A N/A Dave 

Miles

DA30
29

Southfleet 
Road 

(Former 
N. Grid 

site)

Provision of 
Accesses to 

serve residential 
development.

Works 
commenced

Drainage 
diversions N/A N/A Jamie 

Hare

DA30
30

Priory 
Road - 
North 

(Weston 
Homes)

Construction of 
new bell mouth 

to access 
proposed 
housing 

development.

Substantially 
complete

Remedial work 
required once 
construction 

access no longer 
required.

N/A N/A Dave 
Miles



DA30
32

Darenth 
Road/Pow

dermill 
Lane

Amendment to 
existing junction 
and provision of 
traffic calming 

as part of 
Planning 

Approval for 
adjacent 

residential 
development. 

Technical 
acceptance 

issued. 

Awaiting signed 
Agreement N/A N/A Dave 

Miles

DA30
34

Brunel 
Way

Alteration to 
existing highway 
to allow access 

to new sub-
station

Works 
completed On Maintenance. N/A N/A Dave 

Miles

DA30
36

Priory 
Road-
North 

(Bellway 
Homes)

Formation of 
accesses in 

Priory Road and 
works in 

Lawson Road & 
Eleanor Close.

Agreement in 
place. Works in Progress N/A N/A Dave 

Miles

DA30
37

Central 
Road

Formation of 
bell mouth 

junctions E & F 
for residential 
access and 
temporary 

access. 

Agreement 
signed. Works in progress N/A N/A Dave 

Miles

DA30
39

Halcrow 
Avenue 

(The 
Bridge 
site) - 

Phase 2

Continuation of 
work from 

DA2132 by 
Persimmon 

Homes.

Agreement 
signed. Works in progress N/A N/A Dave 

Miles

DA30
40

Darenth 
Road - 

South. Old 
Mill site.

Provision of new 
bell mouth to 

serve residential 
development.

Agreement in 
place.

Substantially 
complete. N/A N/A Dave 

Miles

DA30
43

Stone St 
Mary's 
School 
(Hayes 
Road)

Provision of 
parking bays 
and drop off 

point for school

Completed On maintenance N/A N/A Dave 
Miles

DA30
44

The 
Bridge, 
Plot 13, 
Brunel 
Way

Construction of 
new access and 

alteration to 
existing.

Works 
completed.

On maintenance. 
Expires April 2016. N/A N/A Dave 

Miles

DA30
50

Former 
GSK Site - 
Junction 

B.

New crossroad 
junction in 

Central Road   
In progress In conjunction with 

DA3052 N/A N/A Dave 
Miles



DA30
51

Instone 
Road

Alterations to 
existing highway 

for access to 
Lidl store.

Preliminary 
submission 

rec'd.
TBC N/A N/A Jamie 

Hare

DA30
52

Former 
GSK site 

Junction C

New traffic 
signal junction 

at Mill Pond 
Road/Overy 
St/Central 

Road.

In progress

Current works are 
remedial repairs 

due to burst water 
main.

N/A N/A Dave 
Miles

DA30
60

Green 
Street 
Green 
Road 

(former 
Mabledon 
Hospital)

Formation of 
right turn lane to 

access 
proposed 

Crematorium

Preliminary 
submission 

rec'd.
TBC N/A N/A Dave 

Miles

DA30
61

Joyce 
Green 
Lane 

(West) 

Alterations to 
existing highway 

to facilitate 
residential 

development on 
former GSK car 

park.

Technical 
submission 

rec'd.
TBC N/A N/A Dave 

Miles

Appendix F – Bridge Works

Bridge Works – Contact Officer Kathryn Moreton

Road Name Parish Description of Works Current Status

No works planned.

Appendix G – Traffic Systems

There is a programme of scheduled maintenance to refurbish life expired traffic signal equipment across 
the county based upon age and fault history. The delivery of these schemes is dependent upon school 
terms and holiday periods; local residents, businesses and schools will be informed verbally and by a letter 
drop of the exact dates when known. 

Traffic Systems - Contact Officer: Toby Butler
 

Location Description of Works Current Status

No traffic signal refurbishment work being 
carried out this year



Appendix H – Member Highway Fund 

  Member Highway Fund programme update for the Dartford District.
The following schemes are those, which have been approved for funding by both the     relevant 
Member and by Roger Wilkins, Interim Director of Highways, Transportation and      Waste. The list 
only includes schemes, which are 

 in design 
 at consultation stage
 about to be programmed
 recently completed on site. 

The list is up to date as of 28th January 2016

The details given below are for highway projects only.  This report does not detail 
 Contributions Members have made to other groups such as parish councils
 Highway studies
 Traffic & non-motorised user surveys funded by Members.  

More information on the schemes listed below can be found via Kent Gateway, the online database 
for all Combined Member Grant schemes and studies, or by contacting the Traffic and Safety 
Engineer for the Combined Member Grant (Gravesham district). 

Ann Allen (Wilmington)

Details of Scheme Status

15-MHF-DA-20 Contribution to support Sunday bus service
Support for Sunday bus service 429, shared scheme with other KCC Members Ongoing

Penny Cole (Dartford East)

Details of Scheme Status

15-MHF-DA-99 Cugley Road, Dartford
Request for Children Playing warning sign 

Ongoing

15-MHF-DA-75 Clarendon Gdns, Cadogan Ave, St Marys Rd  j/w Charles St &  
Hayes Road

Investigate new parking restrictions and the extension of existing zig zags outside 
Stone School

Ongoing

15-MHF-DA-25 Carlton Avenue/Hayes Road, Dartford
Small scheme investigation to look into prevent parking on the traingle

Ongoing

Yan Ozog

Details of Scheme Status

15-MHF-DA-76 Shepherds Lane Installation of DYL on northern side of A226
Installation of DYL on northern side of A226 from Shepherds Lane to the petrol 
station

Ongoing



Tom Maddison 

Details of Scheme Status

15-MHF-DA-97 The Brent
Vehicles parking on private forecourt & public footway, via zebra crossing drop kerbs 
to access footway, small scheme to remediate issues. 

Ongoing

1.1 Legal Implications

1.1.1 Not applicable.

1.2 Financial and Value for Money Considerations

1.2.1 Not applicable.

1.3 Risk Assessment

1.3.1 Not applicable.

Contacts: Carol Valentine / Jamie Watson  03000 418181





KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee held in 
the Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Friday, 4 December 
2015.

PRESENT: Mr C R Pearman (Vice-Chairman), Mr M Baldock, Mr A H T Bowles, 
Mr R E Brookbank (Substitute for Mr M A Wickham), Mr C W Caller, 
Mr I S Chittenden, Dr M R Eddy, Mr P J Homewood, Mr B E MacDowall, 
Mr J M Ozog, Mr C Simkins, Mrs C J Waters and Mr M E Whybrow

ALSO PRESENT: Mr M A C Balfour, Mr P M Hill, OBE and Mrs S V Hohler

IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs B Cooper (Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and 
Transport), Mr R Wilkin (Interim Director of Highways, Transformation and Waste), 
Mr T Read (Head of Highway Transport), Dr S Anderson (Flood Risk and Natural 
Environment Manager), Mr A Casson (Operations Manager), Mrs E Milne (Flood 
Risk & Natural Environment Manager), Mrs C Valentine (Highway Manager), 
Mr R Fitzgerald (Performance Manager), Ms E Hanson (Policy Manager), 
Mr S Horton (Road Safety Team Leader) and Mrs L Whitaker (Democratic Services 
Manager (Executive))

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

125. Apologies and Substitutes 
(Item A2)

Apologies were received from the Chairman, Mrs Stockell, who was substituted by 
Mr Wedgbury, Members wished her a speedy recovery. Apologies were also 
received from Mr Wickham who was substituted by Mr Brookbank.

126. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the Agenda 
(Item A3)

No declarations were received.

127. Minutes of the meeting held on 16 September 2015 
(Item A4)

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 16 September 2015 were 
correctly recorded and that they be signed by the Chairman.



128. Meeting dates for 2016/17 
(Item A5)

RESOLVED that the Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee meeting dates 
for 2016/17 be noted as follows:

2016 2017
Wednesday, 13 January Thursday, 12 January 
Friday, 11 March  Monday, 13 March 
Wednesday, 4 May
Friday, 8 July
Wednesday, 7 September
Thursday, 17 November

129. Verbal updates 
(Item A6)

1. The Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport, Mr Balfour, gave  his 
verbal update on the following:

(a) Active Travel Strategy – A Members Group was to be set up to 
consider the government’s Public Walking and Cycling Strategy.  The 
Members Group would report back to the Committee in March 2016, and 
would tie in with the Local Transport Plan which would also be 
considered at that time so that they could be aligned.

(b) Ashford Spurs - The signalling system that had been proposed for 
Ashford International Station had now been replaced with a cheaper and 
more easily installed technical solution.  Although this would result in the 
loss of some European funding, it would be a proven option and would 
cost less.  The project would be entirely LEP funded.
Contract tenders had now been received, of which one was acceptable.  
Mr Balfour was confident that matter had been successfully negotiated 
and the successful tender would be published as soon as it was possible 
to do so.

(c) The Airspace Review - Gatwick Airport Ltd had appointed Bo 
Redeborn, aviation consultant, to lead an independent review of airspace 
architecture. As part of the review a wide range of key stakeholders 
including community groups and local residents would be consulted.  
Members were assured that KCC would respond to protect the interests 
of local residents, particularly in the West of the County, from noise and 
air pollution.  Bo Redeborn would report to GATCOM in January 2016.

(d) Kent Environment Strategy Member Group - This would be discussed 
later on in the agenda.

(e) North Farm – This had been a successful project largely due to the 
cooperation of the land owners, who had dedicated land to Highways.  
Mary Gillett and her team were commended for their excellent work in 
running the project.

(f) Growth and Infrastructure Framework Launch - Information was now 
available on the Kent Website and work was being undertaken to tackle 
the £2 billion funding gap that had been identified.  Mr Balfour advised 



that he Chaired a primarily Senior Officer Group, (Cabinet Member, Mr 
Holden, also sat on this group) from all areas of the authority, that had 
been appointed to; (i) regularly review the Growth and Infrastructure 
Framework; and (ii) ensure that Kent County Council responded with one 
voice when negotiating Section 106 and 278 agreements with 
developers, district and borough councils.  He welcomed any other 
Cabinet Members whose portfolio fell within the remit of this Group.

(g) Operation Stack – The Operation Planning Group had met and future 
meetings were planned.  Highways England were currently finalising 
their informal consultation document which was expected to be in the 
public domain on 11 December.  Following the publication there would 
be a variety of public meetings and showcases and KCC would request 
that Highways England met with the County Council to brief   any elected 
members that wished to attend.  Mr Balfour advised that other invitees 
would be the Police Authority and the Fire and Rescue Authority.  
Mr Balfour also reported that Highways England was intending to put 
average speed cameras along the A21.

(h) Lighting Consultation – The public consultation on street lighting had 
ended in November 2015.  The consultation sought views from the public 
regarding preferences for street lighting following the planned conversion 
to LED lights.  The external consultants would report back on the 
findings of the consultation and an extraordinary meeting of the Cabinet 
Committee would be convened in February 2016 to consider the matter 
and make recommendations to the Executive.  Mr Balfour requested that 
once Members had received meeting papers, any questions they may 
have be put forward for a response before the meeting.

(i) Buses – Officers from KCC Transport had been working with bus 
operators to identify the potential for transferring some KCC supported 
bus services back into commercial operation.  This was being carried out 
to enable KCC public transport to meet its 2016/17 budget of £5.25 
million which had over the past two years been reduced by £2 million.  
The service had already delivered £1 million of savings with only a 
marginal impact on service users and now needed to deliver a further £1 
million of savings.  Local bus operator partners had identified £680k of 
service initiatives which could deliver savings to KCC and only have a 
marginal impact on service users.  This was welcomed and operators 
were commended on their proactive approach to the matter. Initially, 
from April 2016  14 KCC supported services would be absorbed by local 
bus partner operators with no change in the service provided making 
expected savings of £260k.  
KCC would consult from early February on a further £420k of service 
initiatives affecting 16 services which would see more supported 
services absorbed but with some change to the current service be it 
different timings, less journeys or slightly revised routing.  KCC public 
transport and its local bus operator partners were commended for their 
collaborative working which had made significant budget savings to KCC 
but retained the shape of the current Kent bus network and the level of 
provision.  It was accepted that in some areas of the County there had 
been change but to services and journeys which were poorly used.  KCC 
public transport would continue to identify further savings which would 



enable it to meet its 2016/2017 budget without significantly impacting 
service users.  Members were assured that it was KCC’s intention to 
enhance community bus services including Ashford, Wealden Wheels.

2. Mr Balfour and Mr Pearman responded to questions by Members as follows:

a) Mr Pearman confirmed that both the Active Travel Strategy and the Local 
Transport Plan4 (LTP4) would be developed simultaneously and be 
reported back to this Cabinet Committee on 11 March 2016.  He invited 
the same Members that were on the LTP4 Member Group to assist with 
the Active Travel Strategy; these were Mr Baldock, Mr Caller, Mr 
Chittenden and Mr Wybrow.  Meeting dates had been fixed for the 
mornings of 12 January and 26 January.

b) Mr Balfour advised that discussions were being undertaken with bus 
operators to identify and agree which services KCC could cease to support 
yet the service continue albeit with a potential impact on timings, route or 
frequency. He stressed that any proposals would be the subject of 
consultation with residents. The next tranche of services would be 
considered in January/February 2016.

c)  A request was made that when consulting on future bus service provision 
consideration be given to providing services that ran one, two or three 
days per week, which may mean that more services could be provided; it 
was claimed that many rural residents preferred this approach.

d) Mr Balfour advised that he did not have the response figures for the LED 
consultation as they were with the consultants, but was aware that the 
figure was in the thousands.  The results would be published in the 
consultant’s report.

e) Mr Balfour explained that there was to be both a non-statutory and a 
statutory consultation on Operation Stack.  KCC was being kept informed 
but any information provided was confidential until the consultation was 
published.  There had been suggestions that this may happen on 8 
December.  Mrs Cooper advised that Members would receive a briefing as 
soon as was appropriate.

f) Mr Balfour did not disagree with the suggestion that there needed to be a 
cross party national debate on bus services to look at how to get people 
out of the private motor car  and making the best use of public transport.

g) Mr Balfour responded to a question on Ashford Spurs and read out a 
statement as follows: “the signalling solution to be deployed will be the 
French KVB used at St Pancras rather than the European ETCS system.  
The reason for the change was technical problems with the ETCS and the 
removal by the Department of Transport of the need for derogation from 
EU law for the KVB system.  Although going with KVB means that we lose 
the EU funding for ETCS, the funding gap is smaller for KVB without EU 
funding than it would have been for ETCS with EU funding”.  He clarified 
that this would allow trains to go in and out of the Ashford station.   Mrs 
Cooper added that the funding still needed to be sourced.  Members would 
be advised of the project timeline outside of the meeting.

h) A comment was made regarding the consultation process. It was advised 
that when responding to the online consultation respondents needed to 
sign in, therefore it was not possible to retain anonymity as it was when 



using the paper method of consultation.  In addition, if a household had 
one email address only one person in that household could participate 
online as a different email address was required for each response. 

3. The Cabinet Member for Community Services, Mr Hill, highlighted three 
information items.

  
(i) The Kent and Medway Community Safety Conference, an annual event, was 

held on 3 November.  The theme of the event was dementia and was well 
attended, with Angela Rippon as the key note speaker who had a national 
role in dementia, working with the government.   

(ii)The Domestic Homicide Review.  He explained that the local authority had a 
responsibility to commission these reviews which were important tools in 
establishing why incidents had occurred and ensuring lessons were learnt 
and communicated.  A seminar was held on 18 November, which was well 
attended by over 100 practitioners.  They considered a number of recent 
reports and drew out the lessons learnt.  It was hoped that the incidents of 
homicide would be reduced as awareness of potential triggers was raised; 
and 

(iii) Public Protection Annual Reports – The Public Protection Service had seven 
small services; Trading Standards, Community Safety, Public Rights of Way 
and access, Kent Resilience Team, Gypsy and Traveller Unit, Kent Scientific 
Services; and Coroners.  To highlight the work undertaken by those services 
their annual reports 2014/15 were now published on KCC’s website.

4. RESOLVED that the responses to questions by Members and the information 
in the verbal updates be noted with thanks.

130. Kent Environment Strategy 
(Item B1)

1. The Environment Strategy Programme Manager, Dr Anderson introduced a 
report that gave an update on the strategy to reflect feedback following the public 
consultation held from 27 July to 25 September 2015. Parallel to the consultation, 
the strategy had been presented to senior management teams across the Districts 
and Boroughs and many of the key stakeholders groups.  Just over 100 responses 
were received of which 50% represented organisations and networks.

2. The report highlighted those high level areas that required particular attention 
including:

 Balance of priorities in relation to development
 Influencing national Government and Bodies
 Agricultural, forestry, viticulture and horticulture 
 Sustainable Transport options
 Noise pollution; and 
 Links between strategies, plans and partner roles

 
3. The final draft of the Strategy was presented to the Kent Leaders Group at its 
meeting last week with recommendations for endorsement and to take forward the 

http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/49977/Trading-Standards-annual-report.pdf
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/49972/Community-safety-annual-report.pdf
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/49976/Public-Rights-of-Way-and-Access-annual-report-2014-15.pdf
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/49976/Public-Rights-of-Way-and-Access-annual-report-2014-15.pdf
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/49974/Kent-Resilience-Team-annual-report.pdf
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/49973/Gypsy-and-Traveller-unit-annual-report.pdf
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/49975/Kent-Scientific-Services-annual-report.pdf
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/49975/Kent-Scientific-Services-annual-report.pdf
http://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/50883/Coroners-annual-report.pdf


adoption of the Strategy in their individual authorities, subject to their internal 
processes and the governance highlighted in the report, which were all agreed.

4. The Cabinet Committee agreed to the amended wording of  recommendation 
(b) in the report read out by Dr Anderson as follows: “That the Cabinet Committee is 
asked to consider and endorse or make recommendations to the Cabinet Member 
for Environment and Transport on the proposed decision to adopt the refreshed Kent 
Environment Strategy: A strategy for environment, health and economy, which as a 
partnership strategy will include the delivery of programmes and activities by a 
variety of organisations requiring associated frameworks, MoUs, projects and 
contracts to be developed and implemented as appropriate. One of these would be 
the work of the Countryside Management Partnership and associate contracts for 
delivery.”

5. Dr Anderson and Mr Balfour responded to questions by Members as follows:
a) The proposal of a Kent Environment Strategy Member Advisory Group 

was welcomed.
b) Comments were made that there were still issues that needed to be 

addressed on the following; (i) Paragraph 2.51 - the impact of new housing 
developments across Kent.  Sustainable growth was unachievable with the 
amount of development that was planned for Kent in the next 15-20 years 
and the local authority should reflect that it had to meet the challenge of 
unsustainable housing and development being proposed by Government. 
(ii) Paragraph 2.5.4 – The perceived lack of investment from the Transport 
Office and the potential that a reduction in funding would result in a lack of 
investment.  Car travel would not reduce if the population increased by 
25% and the local authority must look at how it could manage any imposed 
development.

c) A view was expressed that ideally this would have been a second draft 
submitted for consultation as it was not considered ready as a final draft.  
A final draft should establish what value would be added by the 
implementation of the strategy.

d) Mr Balfour thanked Mr Baldock for his comments.  He considered that the 
Strategy was good, acceptable and usable by all partners and 
stakeholders.  Furthermore, there would be a Member Advisory Group and 
there would be an Implementation Plan to ensure that the strategy was 
effective. Finally he assured members that all comments that had been 
received had been and would continue to be given due consideration.

e) Dr Anderson and her wider team were thanked for the work carried out on 
the Strategy and presentation.

f) Invitations would be sent out to Members to take part in the 
implementation

6. Dr Anderson advised that following endorsement or comments from the 
Cabinet Committee the Strategy would be submitted  to Cabinet in January 2016 for 
adoption Simultaneously, partner organisations would adopt the the Strategy through 
their own internal processes. The Strategy would then be launched.
 
7. RESOLVED that:-



(a) the comments and responses to questions by Members be noted; 

(b) the key consultation feedback outlined in this report be noted and the 
amendments proposed in the final draft of the Kent Environment Strategy 
(Annex 1) be agreed; and

(c) the proposed decision of  Cabinet  to adopt the refreshed Kent 
Environment Strategy: A strategy for environment, health and economy, 
which as a partnership strategy will include the delivery of programmes 
and activities by a variety of organisations requiring associated 
frameworks, MoUs, projects and contracts to be developed and 
implemented as appropriate. One of these would be the work of the 
Countryside Management Partnership and associate contracts for 
delivery, be endorsed

131. Proposed extension to Resurfacing Contract, currently let to Eurovia 
Infrastructure Limited 
(Item B2)

1. The Interim Director of Highways, Transportation and Waste Mr Wilkin 
introduced the Road and Footway Asset Manager, Mr Casson, to present the report 
to the Cabinet Committee that outlined Eurovia’s performance to date, analysed 
industry price pressures and considered the advantages and disadvantages of 
extending this contract against re-tendering.

2. Mr Casson advised that with the increased cost of bitumen, aggregate and 
labour costs there was little scope in achieving a reduction in costs as in past years, 
and predicted an increase in costs of 10%. 

3. Mr Casson praised Eurovia’s performance throughout the contract rto date, in 
particular their focus on customer service and client awareness.  Eurovia 
Infrastructure Limited had been quick to identify solutions to any problems that had 
occurred and had worked with KCC officers to lessen any impact on the work in 
hand and manage reputational risk effectively.  They had delivered very high profile 
and high impact road reconstruction schemes including Willington Street, Maidstone, 
The Broadway, Minster and Wrotham Road and through effective engagement with 
local people had lessened the impact of those schemes on communities and 
businesses.  

4. Mr Casson responded to comments and questions by Members as follows:

a) That relatively few complaints had been received in relation to the 
Wilmington Street reconstruction scheme in Maidstone and that despite 
initial concern from residents the impact had been managed well. .  
Congratulations were extended to both officers and Eurovia Infrastructure 
Limited for their performance throughout the work carried out at Willington 
Street, Maidstone.

b) That the value of the current contract was up to £9m.
c) That the cost of carrying out an EU tender was approximately £200k.



d) It was suggested that this contract be made the template of how 
contracted work should be carried out throughout the county.  

e) A further suggestion was made that Eurovia Infrastructure Limited could 
be contracted for other highways work in the county and that the 
comments be fed back to the company.

f) Mr Casson explained that had Eurovia Infrastructure Limited not agreed to 
extend the contract Kent would have retendered which would have 
resulted in higher prices.

Mr Chittenden moved, seconded by Mrs Waters the recommendations in the report

5. RESOLVED that:- 

(a) the responses to comments and questions by Members be noted;  and
 

(b) the proposed decision  of the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Transport to agree the proposed extension to the Resurfacing Contract 
currently let to Eurovia Infrastructure Limited from June 2016 to June 
2018, as set out in Appendix A to the report, be endorsed.

132. Completion of Sandwich Town Tidal Defence Scheme 
(Item C1)

1. The Natural Environment and Coast Manager, Mrs Milne, introduced a report 
on the successful conclusion of the Sandwich Town Tidal Defence scheme, 
delivered in partnership by KCC, the Environment Agency and Pfizer.  It reflected on 
the wider benefits the scheme had delivered to East Kent and the advantages of the 
partnership approach to flood defence delivery.

2. Mrs Milne advised that the final cost of the Sandwich Town Tidal Defence 
scheme was £23.5 million.  The level of protection was raised from a 1 in 20 year 
level of protection, classed as at significant risk, to 1 in 200 year level of protection, 
classed  as low risk.  KCC had contributed £3.28 million capital into the project with a 
further £1.36 million for ongoing maintenance. There was an additional £11.92 
capital funding from the Environment Agency and Pfizer as a private investor had 
contributed £6.5 million.  This was one of the first public/private partnerships for flood 
defence in the new funding regime and the largest one in the UK.  The works were 
completed in September 2015.

3. The Scheme had produced 14 kilometres of improved and raised flood 
defences, a new flood wall at the town quay and delivered 240 hectares of tidal flood 
relief area.

4. The quality of the scheme had been recognised by a number of awards 
including the Institute of Civil Engineers (ICE) South East Engineering Excellence 
Award, Living Waterways Awards and was shortlisted for the Chartered Institute of 
Public Relations Pride Awards 2015 in the Public Sector Campaign category.



5. A short video presentation was received by the Cabinet Committee on the 
scheme.

6. Mrs Milne extended an invitation to Members to visit the site in Sandwich 
which could be arranged for the summer.

7. Mr Balfour wished to thank the Leader of the County Council, Pfizer, the 
schemes contractor, Jackson Civil Engineering and KCC’s officers for their 
contribution in delivering a successful scheme.

8. Mrs Milne noted comments by Members as follows:

a) Members welcomed the approach to the delivery of the scheme and felt tat 
it would enhance the local area.

b) It was suggested that there may be maintenance problems for the new 
quay area in Sandwich similar to problems experienced by Dymchurch that 
had not been envisaged.

c) Members commented on the excellence of the scheme.
d) A comment was made that this scheme had preserved one of the best 

medieval towns in the country which was an additional economic benefit 
that would be realised financially over the coming years

9. RESOLVED that comments and the responses to questions by Members and 
the report be noted with great pleasure.

133. Highway Operations Anti-litter 
(Item C2)

1. The Interim Deputy Director of Highways Transportation and Waste, Mr 
Wilkin, introduced a report on the collaborative response to tackle the problem of 
litter and fly-tipping in the county. Mr Wilkin introduced the Highway Manager for 
West Kent, Mrs Valentine.

2. Mrs Valentine highlighted the role and work of; (i) the Kent Resource 
Partnership (KRP), a partnership between the district councils and KCC and (ii) 
The sub group of KRP, the KRP Street Scene Project Group which had been 
running for two years.  Its membership included all 13 district and borough 
councils, Highways England and Balfour Beatty.  The Group discussed joint 
working initiatives.  The Highway Operations involvement in the group focused  
on the following three key areas:

 A County wide Litter Campaign 
 A Fly-tipping protocol
 Joint working on litter clearance on Kent’s high speed roads

3. Mrs Valentine advised that to tackle the problems of fly tipping the KRP Street 
Scene Project Group looked at the customer experience of reporting fly tipping and 
found that the public were often diverted backwards and forwards from KCC to the 
District or borough councils.  The KRP agreed a twelve month trial of a consistent 



county wide approach to reporting fly tipping i.e. if this was on the carriage way it 
would be reported to KCC and if it was on a verge or footway it would be reported to 
the borough or district council.  This was being monitored and after 6 months was 
reported to be doing well.

4. Mrs Valentine advised that there was a Waste Enforcement Officer who 
worked closely with the borough and district councils and Kent Police to find out 
where there were issues and take action.  There had been a number of successful 
prosecutions including a serial fly tipper operating in Kent and South London who 
was fined £15,000.

5. Mrs Valentine explained that the Highway Operations annual programme was 
produced and arrangements made for the roads/lanes to be closed for repairs.  
There were now trial agreements in place with the borough and districts councils for 
litter to be cleared as part of the programme.  The results of the trial were still being 
assessed; there was already an approximately 50% success rate and there was 
more work to do.

6. Mr Balfour noted the successes of the collaborative work undertaken by the 
borough and district councils with the Kent Resource Partnership and thanked them 
for their cooperation.  

7. Mr Balfour thanked Mr Julian Cook, District Manager for Sevenoaks, for all his 
work carried out in the district.  He also thanked Mr Paul Vanston, the Lead Officer 
on the Kent Resource Partnership who was leaving KCC. 

8. Mr Wilkin and Mrs Valentine noted comments and responded the questions 
by Members as follows:

a) A comment was made that fly posters lowered the tone of the area and 
encouraged other problems like fly tipping and that the project should be 
rolled out across the country.

b) It was suggested that there was there were particular problems in East 
Kent with rubbish and waste from parked lorries, an issue that sat 
alongside the solutions of Operation Stack.  There were also problems in 
the Ashford District with rubbish along the highway and byway caused by 
lorry drivers. Mr Balfour advised that there was a meeting being held in the 
afternoon with stakeholders including; the districts and borough councils, 
Kent Police and Highways England.  The agenda for the meeting included 
Operation Stack and also; how Kent was going to deal with HGVs and fly 
parking. Mr Balfour said that Kent had lobbied the government for 
legislation regarding enforcement but to date had not received a response.  
He considered that the discussions should still take place to find solutions.

c) A comment was made that where there were spill overs of fly tipping on 
both a carriageway and a footway one authority should take the lead.

d) It was reported that litter had been pushed onto the highway from the 
footway because it was considered that it would be dealt with quicker.



e) It was suggested that there was a role for Parish Councils and Volunteer 
Groups who were interested in being included in the coordination of 
rubbish being collected on closed highways.

f) The collaborative working highlighted in the report was welcomed.
g) A Member raised the issue of littering on the M20 and litter filling the salt 

pits entering into Dover and asked that the correct agency be advised on 
the issue.  Mr Balfour advised that this would be dealt with outside of the 
meeting.

h) Mr Balfour advised that Network Rail also had a role in the issue of 
littering.  He welcomed the support of the Parish councils and volunteers 
and they would be included.

i) Maidstone Borough Council’s coordinated approach to litter collection was 
applauded as it provided; the bags, gloves, pickers and ensured that those 
partaking were fully covered by insurance.

j) It was reported that there were problems with littering on the A249 going 
into Medway that needed to be addressed.

k) A comment was made that Operation Cubit had been effective in the past.
l) It was suggested that there could be improvements made regarding fly 

posting if more was reported.
m) A Member commended the work carried out by Julian Cook, District 

Manager Sevenoaks, for bringing the district and KCC together to tackle 
the issue of fly tipping in the area.

n) Mrs Valentine confirmed that intelligence lead work was being carried out 
with London Boroughs. 

o) Mrs Valentine agreed to answer Members questions regarding paragraph 
3.13 in the report outside of the meeting.  She advised that Highways 
England had indicated that it was willing to share its programme dates with 
the districts and borough councils so that they could be coordinated.

p) Mrs Valentine advised that Braintree District Council was invited to the 
work shop as an exemplar in its work carried out with businesses to 
address the issue of litter in Essex.

q) It was advised that there was a charging scheme for fly posting in Dartford. 
They were contacted and advised of the cost per day. The posters were 
soon removed.

r) A request was made for the policy on the disposal of commercial freezers.
s) A suggestion was made that residents needed to be educated that if 

someone was willing to take their large load of household rubbish for little 
money it may not be disposed of legally in a licensed site.

t) Mrs Valentine agreed to report back on the 12 month trial of the new 
county wide consistent approach to fly-tipping clearance on the public 
highway.

u) A request was made for a more rational rubbish collection service across 
the county.

v) It was suggested that there were issues with litter on all roads not just high 
speed roads.

9. RESOLVED that:-

(a) the responses to comments and questions by Members be noted; and
 



(b) the continued work of Highway Operations with the Kent Resource 
Partnership outlined in the report be noted.

134. Kent County Council Highways, Transportation & Waste Soft Landscape 
Works - Service Review 2018/19 
(Item C3)

1. The Interim Deputy Director of Highways Transportation and Waste, Mr 
Wilkin, introduced a report that sought approval to appoint a Member Task and 
Finish Group to review and identify the priority outcomes for the service.  The Soft 
Landscape Asset Manager, Mr Diplock, explained the role of the soft landscape land 
service and advised that the current annual cost of the services was £2.6 million.
  
2. The Cabinet Committee noted that the current procured contracts came to an 
end in 2017/18 and as a result there were a number of options for the future direction 
of the service to be considered.  A draft diagnostic Report had been commissioned, 
this outlined five possible options for the future of the service.  The five options were:

Option 1: Status Quo
Option 2: Reduced Service
Option 3: Engage with Districts, Town Councils and Parishes
Option 4: Bring In-house 
Option 5: Statutory Minimum Service Only

3. Mr Diplock advised that the service had reduced in budget by approximately 
£1.1 million since 2011/12 and now faced the challenges of further MTFP targeted 
savings of 15%. As a result consideration would need to be given to reducing 
existing service frequencies.

4. Mr Diplock requested that a Member Task and Finish Group be set up to 
review the five options.  The Group would consist of six Members.  There would be 
five meetings held to identify outcomes and support development of options for the 
future soft landscape service.  A report with recommendations would be submitted to 
this Cabinet Committee at its March meeting prior to any public consultation, should 
this be required.

5. Mr Balfour recommended the setting up of a Member Task and Finish Group. 

6. Mr Diplock responded to comments and questions by Members as follows:

a) Concern was expressed regarding further reductions being made to the 
Soft Landscape services budget.

b) A suggestion was made for the concept of Quiet Lanes to be considered.
c) The appointment of a Member Task and Finish Group was welcomed.
d) A further suggestion was made for the Group to consider bio-diversity.  
e) Mr Balfour explained that the process was on a tight timescale and 

Members would be asked to do more as Kent County Council moved to 
become a Commissioning authority.



7. RESOLVED that:-

(a) the comments and responses to questions by Members be noted; and

(b) the setting up of a Member Task and Finish Group to inform and identify 
the priority outcomes for the future of the service be agreed.

135. Killed and Seriously Injured 
(Item C4)

1. The Head of Transportation, Mr Read, introduced a report that updated 
Members on the road casualty trends and the action being undertaken to improve 
road safety in line with the Kent Casualty Reduction Strategy approved by this 
Cabinet Committee in 2014.
  
2. Mr Read introduced Members of his Team; the newly appointed Casualty 
Reduction Manager, Mr Horton, the Manager of the Kent and Medway Safety 
Partnership, Mrs Penny; and the Transport Intelligence Manager, Mr Burchill.

3. Mr Read advised that in Kent the number of people killed or seriously injured 
in road crashes fell by 50% between 2000 and 2010.  Whilst the long term trend in 
Kent was down, 49 people died and 609 people were seriously injured on roads in 
Kent, including those managed by Highways England in 2014, which represented 
an11% increase over the figures for 2013.  A similar increase was seen in 2013 
compared to 2012 data.  Mr Read advised that 75% of accidents were a result of 
human behaviour and driver error.  In Kent there had been a rise in crashes 
recording impairment by drink and drugs, mobile phone use and inappropriate 
speed.  Kent had particularly high traffic density in its rural road network.  The 
Cabinet Committee approved the new Kent Casualty Reduction Strategy and as part 
of this a wider range of data would be drawn on to better define risk and adopt a 
safer systems approach.

4. Mr Read highlighted ongoing projects over the last year that included: 

 Pilot of a “damage only” crash database where evidence of crashes could 
be entered on a county database.  This would quantify and identify risk 
factors on the road side and on the road.

 Piloting of an iRAP/VIDA assessment tool which would be carried out 
alongside the existing assessment.

 The upgrading of existing safety cameras site from wet film to digital 
operation; work would begin in 2016.

 Delivery of Driver Diversionary Scheme (DDS) courses including National 
Speed Awareness for 34,194 clients on behalf of the Kent Police.

 Launching of a new road safety web resource for parents and primary 
schools.

 Expansion of the popular Licence to Kill initiative which was run for 
students in years 12-13.



5. Mr Balfour advised Members if they wanted to see Licence to Kill they should 
contact Mr Horton.  He then welcomed Mrs Penny and congratulated her on the work 
that she had undertaken and the newly appointed Mr Horton. 

6. Mr Read noted comments and responded to questions by Members as 
follows:

a) A suggestion was made that it would be better to have a longer timescale 
to show the trend in accidents over a longer period had decreased and flat 
lined since the1960s.

b) It was suggested that KSI should be split up and fatalities should be 
recorded separately as any changes in one could mask changes in 
another.

c) If casualties were stated by kilometres travelled so that the context is there 
that the accidents are expressed in the total distance travelled. This would 
indicate how low the chances of being in an accident were.

d) The recent activities over the past two years reflected economic activity.  
The economic recession took drivers off the roads and resulted in few 
accidents.

e) It was suggested that speed awareness courses were not the answer.  
The DFT produced a top ten causation factor list.  Since 2005 the first 
cause on the list was; failure to look properly and the second was failure to 
correctly judge the speed of an approaching vehicle, this was 60% of all 
accidents although the focus was on speed.

f) A further suggestion was made for a driver training course set up to reward 
drivers who undertake further driving courses in return for a reduced car 
insurance premium.

g) A comment was made that there was a need to pay more attention to rural 
roads and addressing the behaviour of drives on those roads.

h) The initiative to improve the data collection on nonfatal injuries was 
welcomed.

i) A comment was made regarding the cost of a death or serious injury on 
the roads was £1.9 million. This money was spent by the Kent Police, 
NHS, KCC, Kent and Medway Fire Brigade.  It was suggested that the 
NHS should make a contribution to prevention measures.  Mr Read 
advised that there was an act of Parliament that allowed the NHS to claim 
back the cost of medical treatment from insurers where there was proven 
negligence, in terms of driver behaviour.  He then gave the example of a 
child receiving a serious head injury in a road accident where the cost fell 
upon a local authority, through social care and educational needs for a 
lifetime.  Mr Balfour added that he understood this cost to be £50 million.

j) A comment was made that there was a need to source additional funding 
to further reduce the casualty figures.

k) A comment was made that the graphs on page 115 of the report did not 
reflect the national publicity regarding the elderly being involved in 
accidents.  Mr Horton advised that the graph took into account population 
in terms of national research the graph did not take into account trips that 
those elderly drivers were taking although this gives an indication in terms 
of population level it did not differentiate between ages.



l) A comment was made that this report was optimistic and that there was a 
sea change in road safety.

m) A Member advised that the next Local Transport Plan which was due for 
consultation in 2016 would include road safety as a top priority.

n) A Member stated that people who drove into obstacles to commit suicide 
were also included in the statistics and some of those seriously injured 
formed part of those numbers but did not admit to this. 100% of those 
pedestrians hit by a car in the road were wholly or partially responsible for 
their own position because they were in the road.  A percentage of those 
adults hit by a car were above the drink drive limit.  It was not about speed 
but education.  People needed to be taught how to use the roads correctly.

o) A Member referred to the graph Figure 3 in the report suggesting that 
Driver/Rider injudicious and driver/rider error could be partly tackled by the 
white lines in the roads being maintained.

p) It was suggested that data collection of minor incidents on the roads 
needed to be collated.

q) A Member highlighted the issue of motor cyclists speeding on Romney 
Marsh road and the need for road signs to be changed to “Motor Cyclists 
Think.”

r) It was highlighted that there were no statistics regarding HGV motorists 
mentioned within the report.

s) It was suggested that KCC may want to look at zero alcohol and drugs or 
phone, reducing speed limits 

t) A further comment was made that speed reduction could not be totally 
eliminated from potential solutions and that there needed to be a suite of 
measures.

u) Mr McDowall requested to work with officers on how to set speed limits 
correctly to be submitted to the Cabinet Committee for consideration at a 
future meeting.

7. The Chairman requested that Mr Read speak with Mr Baldock and Mr 
McDowall outside the meeting. 

8. RESOLVED that the comments and responses to questions by Members and 
the information set out in the report on the key trend data and the forward 
strategy be noted. 

136. Commissioning of Domestic Abuse Support Services 
(Item C5)

1. The Deputy Cabinet Member for Community Services, Mrs Hohler, introduced 
a joint report, produced with Adult Social Care and Health.  The work undertaken 
had produced a proper funding stream to the services that had previously been ad 
hoc and was welcomed.
 
2. The Head of Strategic Commissioning, Community Services, Mrs Hanson, 
advised that the report was agreed at the Adult Social Care and Health Cabinet 
Committee on 3 December 2015. A review was carried out on the whole service with 
all partners and providers across the county, including community safety colleagues.   
The findings included; complex funding arrangements, outlined in appendix 3 to the 



report, gaps in provision and duplications in provision.  The Commissioning Strategy 
aimed to pool the resources, deliver a different commissioning strategy which 
addressed the gaps in services and ensure that there was a countywide provision.  
The tender would be opened in February 2016 with the contract to be awarded in 
April 2016, with the new service running in July.

3. Mrs Hanson advised that information on the national data for domestic 
violence would be provided outside the meeting.  She agreed that the rise in 
domestic violence in Kent was worrying and the service would be addressing this by 
developing services.  KCC contributed a large part of the funding and although the 
funding was indicated as high risk, work was still being undertaken to meet with 
partners individually to gain their financial commitment.  There was provision for 
those that had not signed up at the start to enter at a later date.

   
4. RESOLVED that:-

(a) the responses to questions by Members be noted; 

(b) the information provided about the proposed reshaping of Domestic 
Abuse services be noted; and

(c) the commencement of a procurement process to commission an 
integrated Domestic Abuse service across Kent be endorsed

137. Work Programme 2016 
(Item C6)

1. The Cabinet Committee received a report that gave details of the proposed 
Work Programme for the Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee.

2. Members noted that the LTP4 report would be submitted to the Cabinet 
Committee in March which would align with the Active Travel Strategy.

3. RESOLVED that the Work Programme for 2016 as set out in appendix 1 of 
the report be agreed.

138. Performance Dashboard 
(Item D1)

1. The Cabinet Committee received a corrected report for this Committee to 
replace the published report.  The Business Intelligence Manager – Performance, Mr 
Fitzgerald, introduced the report that showed progress made against targets set for 
the Key Performance Indicators.

2. Mr Fitzgerald and Mr Wilkin responded questions by Members as follows:

a) Mr Wilkin advised that the municipal waste recycled and composted 
indicator moved around according to seasonal effects etc.  In terms of an 
action plan, there was a joint Municipal Waste Strategy with all the Kent 
District and Borough councils.  75% of the waste Kent dealt with was 



produced by Kent District and Borough councils through their collection 
systems.  There was an action plan through to 2020.  Members were 
reminded that there was a Waste Strategy Forum which would also 
consider ways forward on issues of waste too.  He explained that a tender 
process had closed to deal with a component of waste that goes to land 
fill, which equated to 50k tonnes per annum. This was to ensure that more 
waste was dealt with productively as a resource rather than end disposal.  
The long term indicators showed an upward trend.

b) Mrs Cooper advised that Kent was focusing resources on an intelligence 
lead programme that aimed to remove dangerous and hazardous items 
from the supply chain.

c) Mr Fitzgerald advised that an archaeological dig that was funded by the 
National Lottery coming to an end meant the end of the national funding 
for that particular project and the number of volunteers reducing.

3. The Chairman and Members of the Committee acknowledged the work 
undertaken by officers to deliver the service to the public.

4. RESOLVED that the responses questions by Members and the information 
set out in the report be noted.   





KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE

MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee held in 
the Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Wednesday, 13 
January 2016.

PRESENT: Mrs P A V Stockell (Chairman), Mr C R Pearman (Vice-Chairman), 
Mr M Baldock, Mr C W Caller, Mr I S Chittenden, Dr M R Eddy, Mr P J Homewood, 
Mr B E MacDowall, Mr J M Ozog, Mr C Simkins, Mrs C J Waters, Mr M E Whybrow 
and Mr M A Wickham

ALSO PRESENT: Mr P M Hill, OBE and Mr M A C Balfour

IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs B Cooper (Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and 
Transport), Mr A Loosemore (Head of Highway Operations), Miss K Phillips 
(Strategic Business Adviser - GET), Mr K Tilson (Finance Business Partner - 
Customer & Communities), Mr R Wilkin (Interim Director of Highways, 
Transformation and Waste), M D Beaver (Head of Network Management and 
Performance), Mr D Shipton (Head of Financial Strategy), Mr J Ratcliffe (Principal 
Transport Planner - Strategy) and Ms C A Singh (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

139. Apologies and Substitutes 
(Item A2)

Apologies were received from Mr Bowles.

140. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the Agenda 
(Item A3)

Mr MacDowall advised that he knew Mr Nigel Collor, Cabinet Member for Access at 
Dover District Council, who was present to speak on Item C3 “Proposed Response to 
the Highways England Consultation on a proposal to create a Permanent Lorry Area 
adjacent to the M20 at Stanford”. 

141. Verbal updates 
(Item A4)

1. The Cabinet Member Environment and Transport, Mr Balfour, gave his verbal 
update.  He explained that due to the rainfall throughout December and early 
January, the ground across Kent was saturated. The rainfall during the week of 4 
January added to this causing widespread surface water flooding across the county.
 
2. KCC received 830 drainage enquiries (put into context, that was more than the 
busiest week of the 2013/14 winter) and provided 146 two hour drainage callouts. In 
addition, Highway Operations raised a further 64 emergency & urgent jobs related to 
the weather.



3. Across the County, 
most Districts had roads 
closed last week due to 
flooding, some were still 
closed today. East Kent 
was worst hit; Dover had 
18 roads either closed or 
virtually impassable and 
Shepway had large areas 
affected. The teams were 
excellent through the 
week, Dover Highway 
Operations were 
commended for the work 
they carried out over this 
period.

4. Once the water had 
subsided there was much 
damage due to debris 
from the flooding. A 
selection of photos from 
Dover District highlights 
the issues.

5. The gritters had 
been sent out 8 times over 
the months of November 
and January.

6. Mr Balfour advised that the Environment Agency was working with Kent 
County Council, Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council and Maidstone Borough 
Council to develop options to reduce the risk of flooding to communities from the 
River Medway, River Beult and River Tiese. The Environment Agency had now 
completed its update of their flood model and was using it to test options to reduce 
risk. The outcomes were expected this month which was slightly behind schedule 
although the EA has advised that the delay would not affect the design and 
construction completion dates of 2019 and 2022.  (Since the meeting, the 
Environment Agency has advised that there will be a further delay in reporting on its 
findings)
 
7. Mr Balfour advised that the Minerals and Waste Local Plan was submitted for 
independent examination by a government appointed Planning Inspector in 
November 2014.  Examination Hearings were held in April and May 2015 and as a 
result a number of Main and Additional (minor) Modifications where proposed to the 
Plan to address legal soundness matters and ensure that the Plan complies with 
planning law and policy guidance. Representations on the soundness and legality of 
the first set of modifications were invited from 17 August 2015 to 12 October 2015; 
and in light of the responses received the Inspector subsequently wrote to the 



Council suggesting that several further Main Modifications were necessary to ensure 
the soundness of the Plan. These were currently the subject of an eight week public 
consultation which expired on 4 March 2016.    Any views received would be 
considered by the Inspector in finalising his report.  Assuming that he was satisfied 
with the Plan, his report would pave the way for the County Council to adopt the 
Plan.  Once adopted it becomes the Development Plan against which mineral and 
waste management planning applications were determined and the allocation criteria 
for the separate Mineral and Waste Sites Plans. 

7. Good progress was being made by many officers in the Directorate and Amey 
on a diverse range of challenging LEP transport projects with tight spending targets. 
Mr Balfour gave the following  examples:

 Tonbridge High Street works had resumed after the Christmas trading break.
 A26 London Road/Yew Tree Road was about to start.
 Advance works for Maidstone Bridge Gyratory were about to start
 A contract had been awarded for M20J4 for a planned March start.
 Tenders for Rathmore Road, Gravesend would be returned this week for a 

planned June start.
 There was progress on a number of Local Sustainable Transport and 

pedestrian schemes. 

8. Business Cases had been prepared and submitted to the Local Enterprise 
Partnership for some 16/17 schemes so that spend could be brought forward to 
balance out re-profiled spend on current year schemes. A lot of effort was going into 
public engagement and advance information for these projects.

9. Confirmation was awaited of the dates for the Highways England consultation 
on the route options for a new Lower Thames Crossing which is expected to run for 
10 weeks from late January. There was a Stakeholder Advisory Panel meeting on 
Friday, 22 January where we hoped for an announcement on the consultation. We 
expect the consultation to seek views on route options within corridor A (adjacent to 
the existing Dartford Crossing) and corridor C (to the east of Gravesend). Kent 
County Council’s proposed response would be discussed by this Cabinet Committee 
in March.

The Cabinet Committee at its last meeting had agreed to a Member Task and Finish 
Group being set up to look at future options for the future of the Soft Landscaping 
Contract. The work was being led by the Vice Chairman,           Mr Pearman and was 
scheduled to finish this month and a final report would come to this Cabinet 
Committee in March for consideration.

Mr Balfour confirmed that following the most recent waste disposal contracts, KCC’s 
target to reduce waste to landfill to 5% before 2020 had already been met.

142. Inter Authority Agreement in respect of the management of the Waste Project 
between Kent County Council and Gravesham Borough Council 
(Item B1)

1. The Head of Commercial Management and Waste Services, Mr Beaver, 
introduced a report on the collection and disposal of waste services within the 
administration area of Gravesham.  He explained that Gravesham Borough Council 



(GBC) had direct service operation which allowed it to design a new scheme of waste 
collection to significantly increase its recycling and composting rate by including 
wheeled bin collection of dry recyclables and separate weekly food waste collections.  
This scheme put joint risk on both Kent County Council (KCC) and GBC which was a 
favourable arrangement.  The financial agreement took account of the price rises and 
the changes in government legislation.  This arrangement protected KCC if GBC did 
not reach their targets. KCC could recoup the costs from GBC.

2. Mr Beaver and Mr Balfour responded to questions by Members as follows:
a) A comment was made that GBC welcomed the agreement and considered 

that it demonstrated that GBC had made significant investment.  When 
local authorities worked together to have a direct service they could 
influence their own future.  This could be the future for other district and 
borough councils. 

b) A comment was made that the wording in paragraph 5.1, “This IAA 
rewards GBC..”, could be considered patronising as this was a 
partnership.  Alternative wording was suggested as follows “The IAA is in 
recognition of GBC..”.  Mr Balfour agreed to the suggested revised 
wording and stated that there was no intention to patronise GBC or any 
Borough or District Councils as the local authorities needed to work closely 
together.

3. RESOLVED that:-

(a)  the  responses to questions by Members be noted; and

(b) the Cabinet Committee endorse the proposed decision to be taken by  
the Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport  for KCC to enter 
into an Inter Authority Agreement with GBC to increase levels of 
recycling and reduce disposal costs for KCC as detailed in Appendix A of 
the report.

143. Budget 2016/17 and Medium Term Financial Plan 2016/19 
(Item C1)

1. The Head of Financial Strategy, Mr Shipton, gave an overview of the Council’s 
draft revenue and capital budgets and Medium Term Financial Plan.  He stressed 
that this was going to be the most difficult budget Kent County Council (KCC) had 
faced.  He highlighted some of the listed factors prior to the introduction report.

2. He explained that one of the biggest issues was that KCC did not receive the 
spending plans from central government until the spending review was announced on 
the 25th November.  This meant KCC was not aware of the total financial envelope it 
was working within. KCC did not get its own individual settlement until 17 December 
2015.  The settlement received on 17 December included a significant redistribution 
of Revenue Support Grant that KCC had not been able to anticipate.  Of that 
redistribution the net impact was a £15m reduction on Kent’s budget that it could not 
have anticipated before that announcement. This meant the papers were published 



for this Cabinet Committee with an assumption that there was still £8m of that £15m 
to find which was included in the appendices of the report for this Cabinet Committee.  
Since the report was published the Draft Budget was published on 11 January, and in 
that draft another £4m of the £8m had been identified, so there was now £4m left 
unidentified.  None of the extra £4m identified in the published draft budget affected 
services within the remit of this Cabinet Committee’s portfolio; it was nearly all being 
taken from Financing Items.  Mr Shipton stated that there was still a little bit of gap to 
close which he understood made scrutinising the Budget difficult.  He advised that 
there was not a complete Budget for Members to scrutinise as this was a very late 
change and was unexpected.

3. Mr Shipton advised that the provisional settlement also included the spending 
power calculation.  This measured Kent’s change in funding both through Council 
Tax and through Government Grants.  This took no account of the additional 
spending requirements Kent County Council was facing either through the effects of 
inflation or the effects of the rising population or the impact of increasing competitive 
need.  He suggested that the Cabinet Committee looked at the spending power figure 
which was reproduced in the report but reminded Members that this was only the 
funding half and not the spending half.  He concluded that there were real term 
reductions in KCC’s funding and KCC was not able to raise enough through Council 
Tax to compensate for both the spending demands and the reductions in central 
government funding, and therefore there was a need to make substantial savings.

4. Mr Tilson highlighted the detail in the appendices to the report explaining that: 

 Appendix 1 - Budget Summary
 Appendix 2 - GET Directorate’s MTFP spending prices and 

savings proposals
 Appendix 3 - An A to Z of Service Analysis
 Appendix 4 - The Capital Investment Plans 2016/17 to 2018/19

5. Mr Balfour, Mr Shipton and Mr Tilson noted comments and responded to 
questions by Members as follows:

a) A comment was made that it would be helpful to have the measurements in 
miles rather than kilometres.

b) It was clarified that the majority of the budget reduction was to be achieved 
through spending reductions including the move to direct billing of utilities 
to the pitch holder. Previously KCC paid and recharged. 

c) Mr Shipton advised that the Council Tax referendum level for 2016/17 was 
2% and would raise £11.2m.  Mr Shipton explained that the next version of 
the budget book would be published with more detail.

d) Mr Wilkin advised that the income from recycling and composting was on a 
downward cycle but would come up again.  There was a healthy income 
over the years but this was typical of this market.

e) Mr Balfour advised that Kent was a well-managed authority compared to 
others and would with others match fund the £17m of Highways England 
funding for flooding defence. 

f) Mr Shipton agreed that if the revenue support grant continued to be 
reduced there would be no further capital money as KCC cannot borrow 
more if the ratio of borrowing costs (interest and repayments) exceeded 
15% of the net budget.



g) It was suggested that KCCs response should challenge why the 
recalculation of the revenue support grant meant that the money was going 
to the London boroughs.  Mr Balfour advised that for every £1 per head 
Kent received, London received £4 for looking after the elderly.  

6. RESOLVED that:-

(a) the comments and responses to questions by Members be noted; and

(b) the draft Budget and MTFP (including responses to consultation and 
Government announcements) be noted prior consideration by Cabinet on 
25 January 2016 and County Council on 11 February 2016.

144. Cabinet Members' Priorities for Business Plans 2016/17 
(Item C2)

1. The Strategic Business Adviser, Ms Phillips, introduced a report that sought 
comments from the Cabinet Committee on the Cabinet Members’ priorities they 
wished to be reflected in the 2016/17 directorate business plans as set out in pages 
76 and 77 of the report.  Ms Phillips explained that many of the priorities would be 
jointly delivered by several services across the directorate and there were cross-
cutting priorities which would be reflected in all the county council directorates’ 
business plans eg developing and implementing the district deals.  The priorities 
would be reflected in the business plan and would help shape and inform the 
directorates’ and divisions’ priorities for 2016/17. Work was being undertaken with 
each of the divisions to identify the priorities and identify the commissioning activity 
for the next three years.
  
2. A draft of the business plan would be submitted to this Cabinet Committee on 
11 March meeting for comment.  All of the Directorates’ business plans would then 
be approved collectively by Cabinet Members by early May.

3. Mr Hill highlighted his priorities on future integrated Resilience and Community 
Safety from his portfolio explaining that the Kent Police and Kent and Medway Fire 
and Rescue had joined to form an integrated team base at Fire Headquarters at 
Loose Road, Maidstone.  His aim was to have closer working with the health partners 
and collate information from public personnel eg parking wardens, community 
wardens etc that would to be analysed and collated to be used in reducing 
community safety issues.  He concluded that Trading Standards also had a role to 
play in community safety with its success in prosecuting rogue traders etc.

4. Mr Balfour stressed the importance of each of the priorities within the remit of 
his portfolio listed on page 76.  He added that he wanted to add to the list “How we 
encourage drivers being more courteous and considerate on Kent roads”. 

5. Mr Balfour responded to questions by Members as follows:

a) A suggestion was made that consultations and working closer with Parish 
and Town councils should be embedded within KCC’s work as they could 
take on more responsibilities but often needed advice on how to start.   Mr 
Balfour agreed with the suggestion and to the Parish councils being given 



the capability to take on more responsibilities.  Although they were not 
mentioned in the list they were embedded in partnership working.

b) Ms Phillips advised that the Cabinet Members’ list of priorities would be 
embedded into the directorate business plan and would not be a separate 
list.  Some of the priorities would be grouped such as Heritage, the rural 
agenda and the Kent Environment Strategy with an overarching heading 
that encapsulated them all.  The two cross-cutting priorities listed on page 
77 were listed because the District Deals came under the remit of Growth, 
Environment and Transport Directorate (GET) while every directorate has a 
lead on the PREVENT priority; the other cross-cutting priorities in Appendix 
1 are ones we all contribute to, but will be led by other directorates. 

c) Mr Balfour explained that the priority “Make on-street parking arrangements 
across the county more cost effective to deliver significant revenue 
savings” would be part of an overall package to help district and borough 
council colleagues to find ways to reduce costs eg looking at whether 
managing parking back office functions could be dealt with on a more 
centralised basis. This is a discussion that needs to be had, and not for 
KCC to dictate.

d) A comment was made that the maintenance of white lines on carriageways 
should be reflected in carriageway maintenance as they made it easier to 
see road junctions, especially at night.  Mr Balfour suggested that white 
lines indicated the edge of the road so drivers therefore do not have to 
think about it and could consequently drive faster. However if drivers have 
to think about where they are going, then they would have to drive more 
carefully and courteously. 

e) A comment was made whether a more effective context could be made for 
public transport within the list of priorities.  Mr Balfour said that there is a 
commitment for public transport which is subject to finance. 

f) A suggestion was made that anything to alleviate Operation Stack was 
welcomed.  This impacted on many businesses and charities in Kent.

g) A comment was made regarding the reference to Heritage and rural being 
put together as there was a lot of heritage sites in the urban context and 
the categorisation of heritage and rural should be avoided.  Mr Balfour 
agreed and gave the example of Western Heights which was in a quasi-
urban rural setting.  He said that in the context of “landscaping” this could 
be rural or urban too.

h) A suggestion was made regarding the cross cutting priority “ask the market 
to solve problems”, that it could also say “asking the market not to create 
problems” eg land banking.  Mr Balfour said that this was market 
engagement and KCC needed to make sure that it was getting the best 
possible resolution to problems through good commissioning and 
procurement.

i) A comment was made that road signs should be kept clean and foliage on 
the sides of the highways be cut back.  There was a need to ensure that 
visitors had a good overall experience when visiting Kent.  Town and 
Parish councils in the East of Kent were keen to carry out soft landscaping. 
Mr Balfour considered that it may be better for road signs etc to be 
maintained locally by Town and Parish councils.  Mr Hill added that there 
was a need to look at what the Parish Councils could do locally and 
appropriate funding being provided for the tasks they undertake.

j) Mr Balfour said that the future of the Members Highway Fund would be 
addressed as part of the overall budget.



k) Members gave examples of working with Parish Councils to fund projects 
by using their Member’s grant to gain match funding from Parish Councils.

6. Mr Loosemoore advised that he had been working with Tenterden Town 
Council as they wanted to take up the Parish village caretaking and work was being 
undertaken on how that responsibility could be shared and devolved especially 
regarding soft landscaping and grass cutting in the area.

7. RESOLVED that:-

(a) the comments and the responses to questions by Members be noted;
 

(b) the Cabinet Members’ priorities for the 2016/17 directorate business plans 
be noted; and

(c) a further report be submitted to the March meeting of this Cabinet 
Committee.

145. Proposed Response to the Highways England Consultation on a proposal to 
create a Permanent Lorry Area adjacent to the M20 at Stanford 
(Item C3)

1. The Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport, Mr Balfour, introduced a 
report on a proposed response to the consultation by Highways England on a 
proposal to create a Permanent Lorry Area adjacent to the M20 at Stanford, Ashford.  
He highlighted the problems that the County had endured over the years when there 
were issues with lorries being unable to enter the Channel Tunnel and in particular 
this summer’s problems which drew the government’s attention as it became a 
national problem and cost the country millions of pounds.  The government asked 
that a solution be found by Highways England at a pace.  Mr Balfour steered the 
Cabinet Committee to only discuss the proposed response to the consultation and 
not what had gone before.  He said that he supported the retention of the Traffic 
Assessment Phase (TAP) scheme and that it should be carried out in a sophisticated 
way with variable speed limits and the queue into TAP should be reduced as much 
as possible.

2. The Chairman had given permission in advance of the meeting to the Local 
Member for Elham Valley, Miss Susan Carey; and the Cabinet Member for Access, 
Councillor Nigel Collor, Dover District Council, to speak on this item.

3. Miss Carey welcomed the opportunity to speak at the meeting. She advised 
that the residents of Elham Valley, who were amongst those who had suffered the 
worst as a result of Operation Stack and now felt punished by the Highways 
England’s proposal.  Both sites identified were not considered a good idea. Miss 
Carey welcomed the £250m found to fund a solution but was disappointed that 
Highways England was asked to look for a site for a lorry park and that it would have 
been more sensible for them to be asked to produce options for resolving Operation 
Stack. Miss Carey highlighted that Highways England’s consultation document was 
headed “Managing Freight Vehicles through Kent” and concluded that the document 
did not have much about managing freight but dwelled on a lorry park.  The lorry park 
would only hold so many lorries and would therefore not prevent lorries parking up 



around Kent. She suggested that the sites chosen by Highways England were not 
options on the list produced by KCC because KCC would not have received 
permission for them because they fell outside many policies of KCC.  Miss Carey 
welcomed the parts of the report before Members that considered a bigger solution of 
what could be done further upstream to stop lorries coming into Kent in the first 
place, the infrastructure that was need to support the traffic that we already have.  
She considered that Stanford West was the right and least bad option, including the 
lower Thames crossing.  Miss Carey supported what the report said in terms of which 
option should be chosen if there was going to be one. She considered that Stanford 
West was the right choice for the reasons set out in the report.  Miss Carey 
considered that the way the Highways England consultation document was produced 
and written made it difficult to come to that conclusion as it lack necessary detail.  
Highways England had advised that it could not give more detail until the site had 
been chosen and what it was going to be used for.  Miss Carey considered that it 
should be the other way round ie layout first and what the operation was to be for 
each of the different options so that consultees could make an intelligent response.  
 
4. Miss Carey considered that this was a poor consultation and advised that as 
this was not a statutory consultation residents were not entitled to compensation 
under the Blight regulations when they come forward with a firm plan. She advised 
that local residents had already lost house sales and their plans were on hold. Miss 
Carey considered that a similar scheme should be operated as when the Channel 
Tunnel was built where people were allowed to sell their properties at the market rate 
that it would have been before the impact of the proposals.  People could not have 
expected to see this coming.  The issues in the report regarding environmental 
protection were welcomed.  She urged the Cabinet Committee Members to support 
the need for generosity to those who were faced with this on their doorstep.

5. Councillor Collor read out a submission which had the support of various 
community hotelier and business groups in Dover.  

“Dover District Council fully supports the principle of your report and agrees that 
Stanford West was far the best solution of the two sites under consideration.  We 
also support what is described as alternative three.  It would maximise the 
facilities for lorry drivers while avoiding replicating facilities available at stop 24.  
However, we do have concerns when reading within your report the statement 
that the main part of the site on the north side of the motorway, to be used 
exclusively for HGV queueing in a replacement for Dover TAP and Eurotunnel    
excess with a dedicated access from the M20.  More effective management which 
is being discussed is likely to reduce the frequency for Dover TAP but we at 
Dover will be continuing to lobby extensively for the retention of Dover TAP and 
indeed as we have been doing so for the past few months seek for the current 
trial period to be made permanent.  Dover also has a freight clearance depot in 
direct competition with the facilities at top 24 so local employment needs 
protecting.  Since its introduction in April 2015, Dover TAP has been used 138 
times to control the flow of freight vehicles through central Dover.  As most of you 
will appreciate the A20 between the southern end of the M20 and Dover Eastern 
Docks bisects Dover with businesses and tourists not having easy access 
between the town centre and well photographed and award winning seafront.  Pre 
TAP, Dover used to suffer from queues of trucks stretching back from the Docks 
entrance usually three or four evenings a week as the norm, during the adverse 
weather it was far worse they use to block accesses to businesses and residential 



properties, junctions roundabouts, pedestrian crossings, making the A20, which 
through Dover is also a local road, extremely dangerous, there was a fatal crash 
there last weekend. TAP, Traffic Assessment Phase, is very apt, as its control at 
the Western roundabout by the Port of Dover Police and drip feeds traffic through 
to the Eastern Docks at a rate that facilities can handle, it was not a stationary 
queue.  This elevates the need for trucks to queue along the A20, through the 
town and allows Dover to go about its business, bus services to flow to time and 
emergency vehicles to get through, to name but a few things other towns enjoy.  
The queues of trucks through the town on the A20 often described as a nocuous 
wall of steel has led to the need to declare an air quality management area 
between the Western Heights roundabout on the docks that has to be monitored 
daily and an annual report sent to DEFRA stating what actions are being taken to 
address it.  Early indications are that TAP is helping to address this situation.  The 
detrimental impact of this routine congestion has had in recent years on residents, 
visitors and more importantly the local economy should not be under estimated 
given that it potentially creates a negative image of Dover deterring inward 
investment by the private sector at a time when the Council’s regeneration 
agenda is at last gaining momentum.  When Operation Stack was on before we 
had TAP, Trucks use to be let go from Stack in numbers that were too great for 
the Port to handle and Dover had queues back.  This proves that traffic through 
Dover cannot be controlled from 10 or 11 miles away as is suggested in your 
report when it refers to the lorry park replacing TAP.  In saying this it needs to be 
taken into account that this is not the only route into Dover that trucks find,  they 
use the A2, A256, A258, B2011as well as minor roads into the town often causing 
chaos by mentioning this point, truck drivers were always looking for a way round 
controls and should there be no control between the proposed lorry Park and 
Dover you will find that trucks will soon be bypassing it by trundling down the A20 
from Ashford through the villages, Sellindge and Westenhanger and seriously 
affecting roads to other villages.  In the absence of TAP our problem will be yours 
tomorrow.  The proposed lorry park should be complimenting and supporting 
Dover with TAP not replacing it.  We are in discussions with the Port of Dover, 
Kent Police, Highways England and others to iron out some of the issues 
associated with TAP that require attention, possibly the main one here is the six 
miles of 40 mile per hour speed limit that Highways England have already some 
advance plans to turn this into a variable speed limit that will only be enforced 
when TAP is actioned.  Added to this, plans were in hand to improve the yellow 
boxes at the junctions.  We respectfully request that the use of the Port of Dover 
TAP be made permanently”. 

6. Mr Balfour reminded Members that this was not KCC’s consultation and 
therefore KCC had no control over the production of the document.  He stated that 
KCC was looking at technology as a means of connecting with; the five major freight 
companies that came through Dover; and the Port of Dover to enable better 
management of those lorries before they reached Kent and once they reach Kent, as 
part of the solution.  He considered that it was also important for Kent to build up a 
network of commercial lorry parks across the country which would require the 
government’s support.

7. Mr Balfour then spoke on local commercial lorry parks. There was a need for 
those private commercial parks to be viable.  He advised that KCC was making 
strong representations with Highways England.  Members were advised that the 
former Gateway Committee had been reconvened.  Its Membership included all 



those local authorities concerned, freight representatives and as many of the 
operators of commercial lorry parks as possible, Kent Police, Kent and Medway Fire 
and Rescue and Highways England to find a solution on how best the commercial 
aspects of lorry parking, overnight storage, could best be done.  This would also 
include the input from ship operators, ports, the Channel Tunnel etc.

8. Mr Balfour stated that it was vital that lorry drivers had surety that if they joined 
the queue or lorry park as number eight they were the eighth lorry to leave the queue.

9. Mr Balfour received comments and responded to questions by Members as 
follows:

a) Mrs Waters broadly supported the report and strongly supported the local 
Member, Miss Carey.  She reinforced the words on pages 88 and 89, 
paragraph 2.7, in the report regarding compensation and asked that KCC 
support those residents affected.  She made the following comments; (i) 
Highways England’s consultation document was vague which made it 
difficult to respond to. (ii) she was not convinced that this was the right 
solution to Operation Stack and that more work should have been carried 
out by Highways England.  (iii) More commercial parks were needed north 
of the M20 which was where the majority of the lorries were travelling to; 
(iv) there was a need to look after our residents and businesses that were 
badly affected when Operation Stack was at its worst; (v) the miles of 
lorries parked up during Operation Stack in the Summer sent out the wrong 
messages to people coming to Kent; and (vi) was happy to support Dover 
District Council wish to retain Dover TAP.  Mr Balfour agreed to reinforce 
the support for local residents receiving compensation in the response to 
the consultation. 

b) Mr Eddy agreed with the statement made by Cllr Collor.
c) Mr Balfour agreed to the suggestion that the wording in a sentence in 

paragraph 2.4, line 5 from the words “; and the Port of Dover queue…” 
being reworded. 

d) Referring to page 87, paragraph 2.5, within the final sentence “…, including 
the bifurcation of traffic between the M20/A20 and M/A2 corridors….”  a 
suggestion was made that if this happened it would require the duelling of 
the A2 at the Dover end which should be included in this document [This 
reference was in the “Growth without Gridlock” documentation]. Mr Balfour 
agreed to this being mentioned in the response to the consultation.  

e) He advised Members that there was the likelihood of KCC would  respond 
to the Lower Thames Crossing in the future and that  Highways England 
was being careful how they discuss the added infrastructure required.

f) A comment was made that the feeling in Dover was that as the West of 
Kent was affected by Operation Stack for a relative short time gave 
additional impetus to a solution for Operation Stack.

g) Mr Eddy said that Dover lived with Operation Stack in one way or another 
on a regular basis.  This had a serious impact on Dover’s economic 
regeneration programme and on existing businesses.  He considered that 
this needed to be resolved not just in terms of a solution of a lorry park for 
particularly severe times but required consideration at a national level.  He 
had sympathy with Miss Carey’s local residents and felt that they were right 
to worry about air quality although the people of Dover had been putting up 
with problems with air quality for a long time.  



h) Mr Balfour advised all Members had received an invitation to a special 
briefing with Highways England held last week and the Highways England 
document had a locality map within it.

i) Mr Caller considered that option three was the best option.  He was 
pleased to note the comments regarding Dover TAP.  He considered that 
part of the solution was for lorry parks to be located further north.  Mr 
Balfour assured Members that national solutions were being considered.  
Dover offered speed and efficiency audit was impossible for Kent to dictate 
to hauliers how they travelled. 

j) A Member commented that this had been a well-balanced well constructive 
debate. 

k) Mr Whybrow advised that he did not support the recommendation in the 
report and considered the consultation a poor document that lacked detail.  
He considered it a kneejerk reaction. He suggested that KCC should 
respond saying that there should be a pause and that a more strategic look 
be taken to where the £250m should be spent.  He said that he was 
unimpressed by the Highways England briefing where Members were 
advised that; (i) this was the only feasible site for the lorry park; and (ii) 
there could be only one large lorry park [a decision they advised was 
reached after consulting with the freight industry]; and (iii) the exit slip way 
was not going to be compliant and as a result there would be variable 
speed limit on the A20 to cope with the 3600 HGVs. Mr Whybrow advised 
that the predictions on the increased volume of HGVs coming through 
Dover meant that by the time the lorry park was built it would be taking up 
some of the increase in volume and this would still leave the same number 
of HGVs as there were now on the M20 when Operation Stack arose.  Mr 
Whybrow considered that this report contradicted the work carried out by 
KCC a year ago on various sites for lorry parks when at the time the 
Stanford site was rejected due to issues of access and operation, 
landscape, serious environmental constraints, ecology, stakeholders and 
reference to the blight on Sellindge and Stanford. Mr Whybrow strongly 
suggested that this was not a proper consultation and the preferred option 
had already been decided.  

l) Mr Balfour stated that this was not a kneejerk reaction.  He disagreed with 
the suggestion that KCC should respond to the consultation asking for 
Highway’s England to look at this again.  Kent had been trying to find a 
solution for many years, but did not have the funds for a solution.   He 
stressed that this was not Kent’s consultation and a considerable number 
of sites had been looked at by KCC and by Highways England, which had 
been specifically involved since February 2015.  Kent would be doing all it 
could through the use of technology and developing commercial lorry parks 
across the country for a holistic solution of which this was a part.

m) Mr Baldock made the following points: (i) this was not a solution and the 
proposed location was an unsuitable site and would not solve the problem. 
He suggested that; (ii) the countryside would be destroyed for the 
occasional use as a lorry park; (iii) it was not a money maker and therefore 
would not pay for itself; (iv) it would be a white elephant;  (v) he agreed 
with Mr Whybrow’s response to the consultation; (vi) as Highways England 
had disregarded KCC’s policies he feared that this could be done again in 
the future; and (vii) he reflected on other schemes when compensation was 
not supported by the local authority.  



n) Mr MacDowall made the following comments; (i) he supported having lorry 
parks around the country; (ii) he agreed that a major lorry park being at the 
Stanford West site; (iii) he suggested that a representative from the 
Highways Agency or the freight industry be invited to a meeting with 
Members to discuss logistics and whether having the site near the port was 
the best one;  (iv) he had concerns about the slip road not being compliant 
and made a request for this to be challenged; (v) he considered that Dover 
had suffered congestion in the area for many years but he would like to see 
Dover TAP removed but at a later date;  (vi)he considered that the A2 
should be duelled to create an alternate route out of Dover.  Mr Balfour 
responded to Mr Baldock and Mr MacDowall confirming that the £250m 
would be used solely for the construction of the lorry park.  He advised that 
HGV representatives had already been invited to private meetings and had 
met with the Gateway Committee.  At those meeting they confirmed that 
Dover was where HGV’s would travel to and from as it was quickest and 
shortest route from Europe to the UK.

 
10. Following Members comments, Mr Balfour concluded that the response to the 
Highway England would stand subject to the inclusion of (i) the need for a better 
TAP; (ii) reinforcing the need for proper compensation for residents; and (iii) a push 
for the other factors that were needed to ensure proper management of HGVs across 
the country because it was a national problem.

11. Mr Whybrow moved and Mr Baldock seconded, the following amendment: 

“That KCC’s response to the consultation paper should be that a more strategic 
look at the whole option of lorry parks and how the £250m was going to be spent 
and that Kent did not support the Stanford West lorry park fundamentally”.  

12. The Chairman asked Members to vote on the proposed amendment and 
agreed to Mr Whybrow and Mr Baldock request for the votes to be recorded, the 
votes cast were as follows:                                                          

 For (2)
Mr Baldock, Mr Whybrow
Against (11) 
Mr Caller, Dr Eddy, Mr Chittenden, Mr Homewood, Mr Ozog, Mr Pearman, Mrs 
Stockell,  Mr Simkins, Mrs Waters, Mr Wickham, Mr MacDowall. 

Amendment lost

13. The Chairman asked Members to vote on the recommendation in the report 
subject to the additional comments raised in paragraph above, the votes cast were as 
follows:

For (11)
Mr Caller, Dr Eddy, Mr Chittenden, Mr Homewood, Mr Ozog, Mr Pearman, Mrs 
Stockell,  Mr Simkins, Mrs Waters, Mr Wickham, Mr MacDowall. 
Against (2)
Mr Baldock, Mr Whybrow 

carried



14. RESOLVED that:-

(a) the comments and responses to questions by Members be noted; and

(b) subject to the inclusion of; (i) the need for a better TAP; (ii) reinforcing the 
need for proper compensation for residents; and (iii) a push for the other 
factors that were needed to ensure proper management of HGVs across 
the nation as this was a national problem the Environment and Transport 
Cabinet Committee endorsed the proposed response to the Highways 
England Consultation on a proposal to create a Permanent Lorry Area 
adjacent to the M20 at Stanford as set out in the report. 

146. The Approach to Maintaining our Highway Assets 
(Item C4)

1. The Interim Deputy Director Highways Transportation and Waste, Mr 
Loosemore, introduced a report on the approach taken to maintain the highway 
assets and highlighted the challenges faced by the County Council going forward.  Mr 
Loosemore outlined the need for a Member Task and Finish Group to be set up to 
support the development of the approach to highway asset management in Kent.

2. Mr Balfour and Mr Loosemore responded to questions by Members as follows:

3. Mr Loosemore highlighted the changes to the block grant maintenance 
received from government.  This had now been split into three different portions. We 
no longer receive block funding as a right.  There were now two extra elements; (1) 
the Challenge fund bid and (2) the incentive fund bid. He then spoke on the 
importance of the Incentive Fund questionnaire, a self-assessment document that 
would need to be carried out and submitted to the DfE accompanied by supporting 
evidence. The score achieved would determine the level of funding received.  
Members noted that the aim was to achieve Band 2 overall to then work to a Band 3 
score. 

4. Mr Balfour agreed that there were more pressures with far less funding being 
made available.  He suggested that there was a need to think more cleverly in 
dealing with Kent’s highways assets.  Mr Balfour advised that he regularly met with 
Mr Wilkin, Mr Loosemore and Mr Pearman to discuss highways issues. Maintenance 
of the highways assets needed to be carried out at the right level.  Members noted 
that this would form part of the discussion on the next highways contract which was 
currently with Amey. 

5. RESOLVED that:-

(a) the responses to questions by Members be noted;
 

(b) the Cabinet Committee noted the challenges highlighted in the report and 
supported further embedding of asset management principles in KCC 
approach to highways maintenance; and

(c) a Member Task and Finish Group be set up to support the development of 
the approach to highway asset management in Kent.



147. Kent County Council Response to the Department for Transport Report on the 
First Interim Evaluation of High Speed 1 
(Item C5)

1. The Corporate Director for Growth Environment and Transport, Mrs Cooper, 
introduced a report that sets out Kent County Council’s response to the Department 
for Transport’s First Interim Evaluation of High Speed 1 (HS1) that had been 
operating since 2009.  She advised that the report also included the direct impact on 
passenger numbers which had risen and the welcomed regeneration in areas such 
as Ashford and Canterbury along its route. 
  
2. Mrs Cooper advised that Mr Gasche continued to pursue Network Rail and 
Southeastern for the repairs to be undertaken at a pace on the Dover Priory to 
Folkestone line. 

3. Mrs Cooper responded to questions by Members which included the following:

a) Mr Baldock commented that he considered the report one sided as it did 
not reflect on the impact HS1 had on residents in rural areas, such as 
Newington, Teynham and Sellindge.  He suggested that residents did not 
receive the train service in his electoral area, Swale West, they had 
enjoyed in the past because HS1 had superseded previous routes.  He 
considered that the HS1 route from Sittingbourne to London St Pancreas 
station that saved seven minutes journey time was to the wrong part of 
London ie, and cost more money.  It was considered that the majority of 
people that worked in London required routes to London Bridge and 
London Victoria stations. 

b) Mr Baldock stated that there had been a huge population growth in Kent 
over this period, mainly with people who moved to Kent and who travelled 
to work in London.  The large increase in the number of train passengers 
on HS1 could be attributed to that growth and not HS1.  People who lived 
and travelled to work within Kent were not serviced by HS1.

c) A suggestion was made that residents who had suffered the impact of HS1 
through longer journey’s to work and increased traffic congestion should be 
consulted and their comments included in the report.  Mr Balfour advised 
that the report was on HS1 and not the classic service.  KCC had to lobby 
government regarding the new Southeastern franchise this year.  Reports 
on the classic service would be submitted to future meetings of the Cabinet 
Committee.

d) Mr MacDowall concurred with Mr Baldock’s comments.  He said that HS1 
was more attractive if you lived or had a business along the HS1 line.  He 
considered that the benefits that came from the HS1 service came at the 
expense of the classic service.  A large number of Kent’s population lived 
on the coastal strip between Dartford and Dover and they were not 
receiving a better service.   Mr MacDowall considered that HS1 was high 
speed in name but not high speed throughout and if high speed was to 
improve the track from Ebbsfleet to St Pancreas, London would need to be 
replaced long term to bring it up to the same standard, this would be costly.  
It would be difficult to limit annual increases to the cost of inflation.  If 
demand grew it was likely that prices would rise with inflation to 
accommodate the demand.



e) Mr Whybrow suggested two additions to the response to the consultation; 
(i) more investment needed in the competing mainline services; and (ii) a 
recommendation from KCC that HS1openned up as much as possible to 
freight to reduce the HGV volume on Kent’s roads.  Mr Balfour agreed with 
Mr Whybrow that the Channel Tunnel should be used for freight.  He 
advised that he and Mr Dance were meeting with operators and 
representatives from Euro Tunnel tomorrow afternoon to discuss how this 
can be moved forward. 

f) Mrs Waters praised the HS1 link from Ashford to London and that overall it 
had been successful for the Romney Marsh area and was a good thing for 
Kent.

g) Mr Caller said that it was incorrect to say that the inter Kent services were 
detrimental because you could use those services within Kent but not on 
the high speed sections of the line.  There were a lot of areas in Kent that 
benefitted from the high speed service, unfortunately it had to run on 
conventional lines from Ashford to Ebbsfleet it joined the North Kent Line.  
He questioned HS1 being used to for freight locomotives and wagons that 
would be travelling at 60 miles per hour on the same lines where trains 
were running at 140 miles per hour.

h) Mr Simkins endorsed the report and considered that HS1 had been 
fantastic for Kent.  The provider had increased services to meet the 
capacity.  He did not feel that there was deterioration in the classic service 
and said that it was important that we say that the other services were still 
good, were used and available. It was important to ensure that they did not 
deteriorate.

i) A comment was made that before the Dover to Folkestone line was shut 
indefinitely to trains after huge cracks appeared in the sea wall along the 
stretch, HS1 was particularly beneficial to those that lived in Deal and 
Walmer. 

4. RESOLVED that:-

(a)  the responses to comments and questions by Members be noted; and
 

(b) subject to consideration be given to additional comments being added to 
the response on the classic service and the line being opened to freight the 
Cabinet Committee endorsed the proposed service enhancements that 
Kent County Council would seek in its response to the Department for 
Transport’s consultation on the new Southeastern franchise specification. 

148. Work Programme 2016 
(Item C6)

1. The Cabinet Committee considered the proposed work programme and 
requested that the “draft business plan” be added to the March agenda.

2. RESOLVED that subject to the draft business plan being added to the March 
2016 agenda the work programme 2016 be agreed. 


	Agenda
	3 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Dartford Joint Transportation Board held on 1 December 2015
	5 Matters Arising
	Matters Arising report

	10 Home Gardens Cyclepath - Update
	Home Gardens Drawing Dartford JTB March 16

	11 Bob Dunn Way - Proposed Cycle Route Scheme
	Bob Dunn Way Drawing Dartford JTB March 16 4300331-000-03 Rev 1
	Bob Dunn Way Drawing Dartford JTB March 16 4300331-000-04 Rev 1
	Bob Dunn Way Drawing Dartford JTB March 16 4300331-000-05 Rev 1
	Bob Dunn Way Drawing Dartford JTB March 16 4300331-000-06 Rev 1

	14 Road Works in the Borough of Dartford
	15 KCC - Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee
	Minutes - 13 January 2016


